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Annual Report and Accounts 2019



January
We celebrate half a century in 
business we kicked off our 50 
Weeks of Giving campaign and 
committed to our biggest year of 
fundraising.

April
We brought together a panel of 
sporting stars to discuss success, 
ambition and leadership in what 
was an industry-first event of  
its kind.

June
Our team embarked on their 
most ambitious fundraising 
event yet: a 100-mile cycle ride 
from Adamson House in Eccles 
to Southport, and then back 
again, all in a single day.

July
We celebrated in style by 
bringing together more than 
800 employees and colleagues 
for a 50th birthday bash at 
Gawsworth Hall in Cheshire.

Our 50th year in business

Years of placing people first

After returning from 
Canada with his 
young family, Gerry 
Mason founded 
Morson in the family 
home in Eccles.

1969

Design consultancy 
Morson Projects was 
founded.

1979

Gerry’s son Ged 
Mason, current Chief 
Executive, joins the 
business after 
completing his 
business degree.

1986

Gerry Mason retires 
from day-to-day 
running of the 
business.
Morson wins major 
contracts.

1999

Morson supports local 
sporting talent many of 
which turn into high profile 
sponsorships.

2000’s

Morson Projects 
are awarded the 
Queen’s Award  
for Enterprise  
for its Airbus  
wings design.

2012

1970
Morson, then called 
J. Morson & Co, 
moved into Bank 
Chambers. 

1980
Throughout the early 
1980s, we were involved 
with a number of high 
profile projects including 
BAE’s Tornado aircraft.

1990
Morson is awarded our  
first Managed Vendor 
contract with British 
Energy, and continue  
our charitable activity.

2006
With a turnover now surpassing 
£300 million, the Morson Group  
is floated (IPO) on the AIM stock 
market, where it would remain 
until a buy-back in 2012.

2010
Morson moves into 
state of the art 
premises, Adamson 
House and acquires 
Wynnwith.
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“There is no 
finishing line” 
– Gerry Mason

September
The launch of our latest diversity on track 
campaign saw us begin awarding our 
London Underground operatives with 
rainbow-striped laces for their safety boots 
in celebration and support of the LGBT 
community.

November
Our commemorative book hit the presses 
which tells the story of the people who made 
the Morson Group what it is today.

December
The end of the year saw the Morson-
sponsored Force Atlantic team, a four-man 
Army cohort, set sail on a 3,000-mile race 
from the Canary Islands to Antigua in the 
Talisker Whiskey Atlantic Challenge. 

In July 2015, Morson 
founder Gerry Mason 
passes away at the 
age of 77.

2015

The Morson Group 
acquires The Bridge.
Ministry of Defence awards 
Morson with the Employee 
Recognition Scheme Gold 
Award for its support of 
ex-forces veterans.

2017

Morson Group acquires 
CTSNA to expand its North 
American reach, 
Southampton-
headquartered Anderselite, 
as well as Waldeck to 
enhance Morson Projects 
design capabilities.

2018

Morson celebrates  
50 years in business with a 
programme of celebration 
and charitable donations.

2019

Thank you to the NHS, 
key workers, Morson 
employees, contractors 
and customers for their 
hard work and 
dedication throughout 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

2020

2013
The Morson Group acquires 
Vital Human Resources.

2016
Ged Mason Chief Executive 
receives his OBE for 
services to engineering and 
design, and dedicates it to 
all in Morson, and his 
parents and family.

2017
The first cohort of Gerry 
Mason Scholars graduate in 
engineering at the 
University of Salford.

2019
The Morson Engine Room and  
Maker Space open to inspire the next 
generation of engineering talent.

Bridgeth
e

0113 3801919 | THEBRIDGEIT.COM

Morson Milestones 1969-2019
When I founded Morson I never set any targets, just the burning ambition 
to be the best in our sector, trusting that passion and ambition, coupled 
with integrity, would be the driving force for success – Gerry Mason



Connecting people. 
Creating opportunity.
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2019 952.1

2019 92.3

2019 30.9

2019 14,900

2018 866.7

2018 84.1

2019† 26.6

2018 13,700

2017 814.0

2017 72.1 2017 14,000

2018 28.6

2017 25.0

GROUP REVENUE (£m)

952.1

NET FEE INCOME (£m)

92.3
CONTRACTOR NUMBERS

14,900

ADJUSTED EBITDA* (£m)

30.9

* Adjusted EBITDA, see derivation on page 25
† Adjusted EBITDA without IFRS 16 implementation, see derivation on page 25
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Strategic Report

WHAT WE STAND FOR

In everything we do, we want to make 
a positive difference to people’s lives, 
be it our employees, our clients, our 
contractors or the communities in 
which we work. 

OUR VISION 

Be the unique and specialist 
recruitment and design agency that 
organisations and contractors want to 
work with and that the most talented 
people want to work for. 

OUR CULTURE

People are at the very heart of the 
Morson Group. 

Throughout the Group, we have a 
sense of family that is demonstrated 
in how we think, how we behave and 
what we truly value. This is delivered 
throughout our relationships with 
contractors, clients and colleagues. 

Even as a business of true scale, we 
keep it personal and consistently go 
the extra mile. 

As a family, we celebrate the good 
times together and nurture our 
collective ambitions. 

#WEAREMORSON 
PLACING 
PEOPLE FIRST

OPERATING ON 
ASSIGNMENTS  
IN GLOBAL  
LOCATIONS

60+

A CONNECTED BUSINESS 

With a unique 50-year heritage, the Morson Group is a focused Company with an outstanding reputation for delivering 
people solutions, consultancy, design, technology and training around the world. 

We combine our specialist expertise to bring the unrivalled flexibility, commercial agility and willingness to go the extra mile 
that you would expect from a family-formed culture. Our independence and depth of offer mean that we think and operate 
differently. We listen, understand and develop clever solutions, giving our clients access to the right people at the right time. 

We are innovators with people at our heart, connecting our team with processes and technology to deliver smarter 
solutions, better experiences and successful outcomes. 

It’s our specialist experience that people come for and  
it’s their personal experience that makes them stay. 

OUR CORE VALUES

#WeAreCurious
#WeAreCourageous 
#WeAreCaring
#WeAreCollaborative

Strategic Report

Welcome to the Morson Group
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NFI BY MAJOR SERVICE LINE

NFI BY BUSINESS

REVENUE BY SECTOR

OUR BRANDS

OUR ADDED VALUE SERVICES

BIG BUSINESS, FAMILY-FORMED CULTURE

With revenues in excess of £952 million, it’s fair to say that within our 
chosen area of expertise we’ve become an interconnected and 
diverse business of scale.

It’s how we work that really matters; how we behave and interact with 
clients, colleagues and contractors; how we think and feel; and what 
we value within our DNA.

We’ve achieved significant growth, but we truly value our culture; 
defined by 50 years of family values and a unique, personal approach.

WHAT WE VALUE

Our suite of core values have guided us to significant milestones and 
successes over the years, but ensuring we make the next 50 years as 
rewarding as the first, meant developing our Group values to align with 
our vision and who we are as a modern-day, people-focused business.

Even as a business of our size and reach, the importance of our 
family-formed culture is demonstrated in how we think, behave and 
what we truly value.

#WEAREMORSON

Temporary recruitment £75.4m

Aero/Defence 39%

Rail/Transportation 20%

Nuclear/Energy/Process 10%

Technology/Digital 8%

Oil & Gas 3%

Professional Services/Other 4%

Morson Talent £51.1m

Vital Human Resources £15.6m

Morson Projects £6.4m

Anderselite £7.1m

The Bridge £4.4m

North America £4.3m

Waldeck £1.6m

Other £1.8m

Construction/Infrastructure 16%

Permanent recruitment £7.9m

Design consultancy £9.0m
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Kevin Philbin
Non-Executive Chairman

We have spent  
50 years building  
a trusted, people-
centric business. 

I’m pleased to report that we have 
posted another strong set of results, 
which sees our turnover increase by 
9.9 per cent and our net fee income 
rise by 9.7 per cent.

Strategic Report

Chairman’s statement
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It was a fantastic achievement that 
whilst we have had some significant 
challenges, our underlying position 
saw growth and a solid financial 
performance in a milestone year that 
was again affected by uncertainty. 
Brexit, an unstable political landscape, 
ongoing reforms to IR35 legislation 
and increasing austerity resulted in 
consequential delays to several 
major projects. 

We now deliver an annual report in an 
extraordinary landscape which few 
could have predicted. The impact of 
COVID-19 has transformed global 
economies and it has forced most 
companies, including our own,  
to take immediate action to protect 
operations. The pandemic continues 
to cause terrible loss of life and tragic 
consequences for millions of families, 
including some of our own people, 
and our thoughts go out to them.

At the time of writing this, we cannot 
calculate the future impact of COVID-19 
on the Group and the economy as a 
whole. We have, as would be expected, 
seen a reduction in clients’ staffing 
requirements since ‘lockdown’ began 
and can only make forecasts as to  
the ongoing after effects. We are, 
however, confident that we have the 
experience and expertise to ensure 
that we contend with whatever the 
future brings, including we believe, 
several long-term benefits for the 
business. As a robust and proactive 
business that continues to press 
ahead, I am confident that we will 
emerge even stronger from this year 
of unprecedented challenges. 

Our client promises 
We continue to focus on 
understanding our clients’ businesses 
and their people, and to deliver on our 
mission of providing smarter, agile 
and bespoke solutions. In 2019, we 
enabled a greater number of clients to 
become more informed of their 
workforce needs, better manage data, 
deliver consistent commercial 
outcomes, source the best talent, 
integrate innovative technology and 
design the right contractor journeys 
and experiences. 

 Read more on pages 12 and 13

Our commitments to 
our workforce
Our contractors look to us for expert 
and honest support to enhance their 
careers with new opportunities, 
experience and an international reach. 
Key to contractors is the wide market 
access our client relations give in 
moving from one assignment to another, 
enhancing their earnings and often 
building their knowledge and expertise. 
Combined with our multi-sector 
experience, this saw us remain a go-to 
recruitment partner of choice in 2019, 
able to connect contractors, and clients, 
with a suite of added-value services to 
support their talent needs. 

We also continue offering employees 
throughout the Morson family careers 
with purpose, ambition and 
opportunity, whilst creating a great 
place to work in an inclusive group of 
businesses that nurture individual 
ambitions. 

Every day, the Morson Group 
connects with many people, either 
directly or indirectly. In what has 
always been a fast-evolving 
marketplace, we must leverage our 
depth of offer and agility to react 
quickly, act decisively and continue  
to innovate. 

Risk management
We seek to provide the best end-to-
end experiences for our people, with 
our commitment to managing risk 
remaining at the forefront of 
everything we do. Facilitating our 
mantras of care, quality and delivery 
require robust risk management 
procedures. This includes a series of 
effective internal controls that have 
been embedded at the heart of 
everything we do. 

Governance
We have excellent expertise and 
experience across a range of people-
centric solutions, bringing together 
the knowledge of specialist experts. 
Maintaining this unique competitive 
edge and reputation for excellence 
requires consistently high standards 
that strengthen how we work. We 
continue to build on a solid framework 
of corporate governance that puts our 
people first, whilst never losing sight 
of our values.

As a Board, we meet regularly with 
our management teams to embed 
sound governance procedures, whilst 
empowering them to make and 
execute appropriate decisions. This 
allows us to react quickly to changing 
industry factors, in both a positive 
and negative sense. For example, the 
necessity to consider cessation of 
service offerings which cease to be 
sustainable, implementation of 
legislative change and investment into 
new and niche market opportunities. 

We remain focused on generating 
long-term value through our vision 
and clearly defined strategic 
priorities. To do this, we must factor in 
the likely consequences of our 
decision-making, particularly amongst 
our stakeholders. This is one of the 
reasons behind our effective and 
ongoing engagement activities, which 
are detailed in the Section 172 
Statement on page 33, and our 
commitment to creating a social value 
legacy, which is detailed throughout 
page 43. 

Despite the challenges and inevitable 
difficult decisions ahead, we will 
remain guided by our core values 
which underpin how we operate and 
behave. Each of our businesses has a 
unique personality and way of 
working, yet we seek to permeate the 
same set of consistent values across 
the Morson family. This mentality has 
driven us through the last 50 years, 
and I am confident that it will enable 
us to emerge stronger once again.

Finally, I want to thank all of our staff 
operating across the Morson family 
who work hard to deliver outstanding 
service and quality.
 

Kevin Philbin
Non-Executive Chairman
30 June 2020

CONTRACTOR HOURS ON CLIENT SITES

23m+
CONTRACTOR NUMBERS SURPASSED 

14,900
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I must begin by discussing 
how the world has altered 
so rapidly in these 
unprecedented times.  
As the first truly global 
pandemic in living 
memory, COVID-19  
has changed the very 
nature of how we  
live and work. 

Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive

Strategic Report

Chief Executive’s review

As organisations deliver revised 
strategies that navigate a new normal, 
we are committed to providing 
business continuity, protecting the 
health, safety and wellbeing of our 
people and remaining a strategic 
partner that our clients can lean on for 
expert support. Yet, out of adversity 
comes opportunity, and our 2020 
Annual Report will deliver further 
detail on our Coronavirus response.

As we look back to 2019, we can agree 
that it was memorable on many fronts. 
The year ended, undeniably, in a more 
stable political situation than it started. 
And whilst the Government has 
announced a further delay to IR35 
reform, it did follow through on the 
UK’s departure from the EU on 
31 January 2020, which finally brought 
an end to some of the Brexit 
uncertainty. Now, more than ever, we 
must serve our clients and workforce 
well, and whilst my statement reflects 
on the last 12 months, we are focused 
on delivering quality services that 
reflect the trust people place in the 
Morson Group.

Q How did the Group perform in 
2019?

We traded well; we grew our top line 
and delivered a strong set of results, 
albeit with projects delayed and the 
backdrop of a challenging year. 
Continued uncertainty over Britain’s 
relationship with the EU and the 
decision to head to the polls on 
December 12th brought delays to 
project spending, including Network 
Rail’s Control Period 6 and various 
capex programmes. 

Our footprint and strength across 
multiple markets did, however, enable 
us to outweigh sector slowdowns. 
Whilst rail investment was delayed, we 
recorded a fantastic year in defence 
due to Government spending 
increases, which saw a bias towards 
marine. We also recorded a positive 
year for safety, thanks to our Work 
Safe, Home Safe culture. Safety 
remains a priority: we saw 2,011 close 
calls raised in 2019 – a 52 per cent 
increase from 2018. Every close call 
raised allows us to improve safety 
across our operations. 

TOTAL DONATIONS TO 
REGISTERED CHARITIES 

£218,000
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Unfortunately, there were two areas of 
the business that, after careful thought, 
we had to close. Firstly, telecoms 
operations in North America and closer 
to home, aspects of our aerospace 
airport support services, the latter due 
to Thomas Cook’s decline.

Q What is the Group’s recipe for 
success?

Firstly, we have a great team, the ‘best 
in the business’, hence why I’m a 
strong believer in the idea that there’s 
no finishing line. We’ve allowed our 
ambitions to lead us in being the best 
and providing quality service, 
including setting a target of reaching a 
£1 billion Group turnover.

I take inspiration from others that have 
achieved exceptional accomplishments, 
Sir Alex Ferguson, for example. 
Whenever he won a trophy, it was 
quickly put to the back of his mind so 
that he could focus on the future. This 
is the exact mindset that we at the 
Morson Group thrive on, by always 
thinking ‘we’ve achieved this, now 
what’s next?’. Being flexible and agile 
is important.

Q How do you place your people 
first?

Our family culture sets us apart. As we 
acquire new businesses, we pay close 
attention to bedding these in, 
smoothly blending our cultures and 
maintaining the values by which our 
employees find natural and live and 
breathe, whilst respecting individual 
heritages. 

Everything is tailored to our people’s 
needs to support them in performing 
to the best of their ability at all levels. 
For example, some organisations only 
view employee health and wellbeing 
through the lens of physical health, 
which is just one part of the bigger 
picture. Our campaign to improve 
employee wellness continues to 
mature at pace, with a focus on 
changing the way people think and act 
towards mental health, together with 
providing mentoring and training to 
create true inclusion and diversity.

Sprinkling some of that magic dust to 
support local charities is also important, 
which was the driver behind our 50 
Weeks of Giving campaign. In 2019, we 
raised £130,000 for our two employee-
chosen charities and donated a further 
£50,000 during our 50 Weeks of Giving.

Q Reaching half a century is a 
considerable milestone, so can 
you tell us your highlights over 
the past 50 years?

Seeing our brands working collaboratively 
to win new contracts was always our goal 
and it marked a real step change. Before 
that, our model had been reactive, so we 
strived to align ourselves with the 
sophisticated ways in which HR and 
procurement teams were looking to 
attract and retain talent. This 
evolutionary mindset remains part of our 
strategy today, whilst still serving our 
apprenticeships and the next generation 
of talent, and learning all the time. 

We’re a people business, so seeing our 
team evolve and grow, not just in their 
careers but on a personal level, is always 
a highlight. We’ve several examples of 
people who joined us as juniors and now 
work as directors, which showcases the 
breadth of opportunity, variety and 
progression.

Our numerous awards highlights and 
reflect the great work that my colleagues 
do. In 2019, we were named ‘One to 
Watch’ by Best Companies, which 
recognises organisations with great 
workforce engagement and marks them 
out as future contenders for the ‘Best 
Companies to Work For’ title.
A memory that will remain with me 
forever is when my dad and I attended 
Buckingham Palace following the 
Queen’s Award; I’ll never forget my dad 
being as proud as a peacock when Her 
Majesty The Queen spoke to him. It was 
an honour to share in the moment, and 
the Queen’s Award was a milestone we 
all celebrated as it was because of 
everyone’s dedication and contribution 
that got us there.

Q Looking at your first 50 years as a 
springboard, what does the next 
50 have in store?

We’ll continue to place people first and 
to do what we do well by always going 
the extra mile, gaining market share in 
our core sectors and becoming the 
go-to partner. 

We’re also still keen to acquire. Our 
strategy is focused on attracting the 
right businesses, which can add value 
based on their geographical spread or 
market sector and strength. 

Data is the new oil, so the continuous roll 
out of innovative technology to maintain 
our position, capitalise on new markets 
and deliver ongoing efficiencies will be a 
key strength and deliver success in 
identifying new diverse talent.

Q This annual report has a 
different look and feel from 
previous editions; could you tell 
us about that?

We spent the latter half of the year 
redefining our brand, adding clarity to 
our values to move with the times and 
creating a new identity. This process was 
more an evolution than a revolution, 
focused on modernising and refreshing 
our positioning and messaging. It was 
about much more than the creative 
treatment, involving a combination of 
investigation, strategic thinking, 
creativity and project management. It 
also included considerable research and 
analysis into every one of our 
stakeholders’ needs and perceptions 
– particularly those of our staff, clients 
and contractors.

Our brand is more than just our visual 
and verbal identity, it’s how we position 
ourselves, the pillars on which we stand, 
how we think, and the articulation of our 
values and beliefs. People sit at the 
heart of what we do and it’s essential 
that our brand reflects this sentiment, 
whilst creating unity across our 
portfolio. 

Finally, a massive thank you to all our 
loyal colleagues, past and present. I have 
valued your hard work, support and 
friendship over the many years. We are 
a family, we are Morson.

Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive
30 June 2020

LONG SERVICE HONOURS
10 years
Morson Talent: 

Morson Projects: 

Morson Canada:  

The Bridge:  

Vital Human Resources:  

Waldeck:  

20 years
Morson Talent:  

Vital Human Resources:  

Anderselite:  

BRAND HISTORY
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Strategic Report

Key market overview

Our strategy to develop complementary services 
which both meet and add value to our clients’  
ever-changing labour needs enables us to successfully 
maintain and grow our position across several key 
markets, whilst reinforcing our reputation as the go-to 
strategic talent partner.
Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive

ENGINEERING, DESIGN, 
CONSULTANCY AND 
MANAGEMENT 
Being a multi-disciplined 
engineering group drives our 
success; able to retain a strong 
labour workforce which moves 
across different industries and 
projects, being constantly 
upskilled and reskilled. In 2019, 
military became a key focus as 
we were awarded several 
high-profile contracts. 
Engineering teams within rail also 
grew significantly with an array of 
new contracts, and the HS2 
green light provides fresh future 
opportunity. Though there is a 
shrinking talent pool within rail 
engineering, we have significant 
expertise and available labour to 
deliver and are training many. 
The year didn’t come without its 
challenges; civil aviation shrank 
enormously due to the losses of 
Monarch and Thomas Cook, 
which impacted the supply 
chains for these operations, of 
which we were unfortunately 
one. However, we began seeing 
returns on our R&D investments, 
for example, digital surveying, 
and we are now delivering digital 
asset care for railway stations. 
We were also awarded special 
mission projects and continued 
to work on several confidential 
programmes of activity, which 
will continue for some years. 

AEROSPACE, MARINE  
AND DEFENCE 

The last 12 months saw increasing 
market demand for skilled 
resources to support numerous 
marine projects in the UK and 
overseas. Significant new design 
projects in the UK air sector 
spanned several developments, 
with new technologies 
incorporated into the airframe 
design, weapons systems and 
communications. Ongoing 
support was provided to 
maintain and upgrade a fleet of 
military aircraft, together with 
increasing demand for specialist 
skills to deliver commercial 
aircraft production projects. We 
also witnessed a seasonal surge 
for highly skilled engineers and 
technicians to complement 
existing resources in the 
motorsport market, including 
numerous Formula 1 racing 
teams and other competitive 
racing projects.

IT AND DIGITAL 
 

This sector is a huge growth 
opportunity for the Morson 
Group as IT and digital 
industries face an ongoing skills 
shortage. We have prioritised 
our investment to ensure we 
continue to bring new 
contractors to market. In 
particular, clients across 
aviation, finance, retail, cyber 
and gaming adopted our 
services to source relevant 
talent, with much demand for 
developers and niche skillsets. 
Utilising the experience and 
knowledge across the Group, as 
well as EVP (Employer Value 
Proposition) data, we enabled 
our clients to identify 
individuals that fulfilled 
bespoke requirements. 

PERMANENT 
 

Our teams recruited at every 
level; from assistants through to 
Chief Executives. We support 
clients with contingency-based 
recruitment, search and select 
initiatives, through to high-
volume recruitment campaigns 
and on-site RPO solutions. 
Whatever the role, the vein 
running through the Perm team 
is contractor journeys. Clients 
welcomed a more consultative 
approach and were open to 
considering different ways to 
attract the best talent. Many 
craved the independent market 
insights and analytics our 
specialist recruiters work hard 
to nurture. Teamed with our due 
diligence and credible experience 
in sourcing contractors in 
markets with major skills 
shortages, our clients returned 
to us again and again. We 
emphasise the importance  
of looking beyond the hire,  
as the mapping and measuring 
of contractor experience  
is essential in ensuring the 
successful retention of talent. 
We worked to inform the 
perception of clients and 
contractors, ensuring all  
are kept abreast of status 
throughout the recruitment 
process and beyond.
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RAIL AND  
TRANSPORTATION 

As is often the case in rail, 2019 
saw lots of projects come to life 
at once, which brings benefits 
and challenges. Control Period 6 
brought with it a new budget and 
greater optimism as the sector 
awaits this new investment. 
Crossrail ventured towards its 
final stages and HS2 was given 
the green light. Any surge in 
projects brings additional 
pressure to source relevant skills, 
and we are focusing on new ways 
of procuring potential talent by 
exploring complementary 
sectors. We must think 
differently, smarter and more 
collaboratively to prevent a 
shortfall of labour, including 
expanding our apprenticeship 
provision through Morson 
Training. In 2019 we remained at 
the forefront of equality, diversity 
and inclusion (ED&I) by 
continuing our partnership with 
Women in Rail. We also launched 
our Rainbow Laces campaign, 
which broke down stereotypes 
and sparked conversation around 
diversity on track. Looking ahead, 
HS2 will dominate the sector for 
several years, yet it will not be 
until Control Period 7 (2024 
– 2029) and when the project 
reaches its peak that we will see 
the biggest budget spent. 

NUCLEAR POWER 
AND UTILITIES 

These markets varied during 
2019, with some nuclear new 
builds on hold, although there 
was still ongoing activity in the 
maintenance market. As a result, 
we were able to maintain our 
position as a preferred partner 
and we are also seeing continued 
demand for traditional 
decommissioning projects. We 
supply several first tier 
contractors within the power 
market, and although this 
industry slowed, our presence 
remained constant. Utilities, in 
contrast, provided major 
opportunity. Our range of 
available services, as well as our 
investment in specialist utility 
consultants, means we will be 
able to capitalise on the growth 
across first tier and 
subcontractor markets. So, while 
this is already a fundamental 
offering from the Group, we are 
confident we’ll emerge stronger 
in this field in the next 12 months. 

BUILDING,  
CONSTRUCTION AND  
INFRASTRUCTURE
Brexit caused delay to forward 
planning in 2019 and meant 
supporting our customers in 
navigating changes in legislation 
and any lethargy in the 
construction and infrastructure 
market. HS2, for example, 
witnessed unprecedented delays 
and the challenge to source 
suitable talent continued. It 
became clear that there are not 
enough suitably qualified 
engineers, surveyors and project 
managers at present to keep 
Britain building at the pace it 
needs to. However, the 
requirement for infrastructure, 
housing and commercial 
development is a growing area. 
We will partner with key market 
players, offering innovative, 
commercially beneficial solutions 
to manage contingent 
workforces compliantly and 
effectively. Our fully-managed 
process designed to overcome 
the challenges IR35 will present 
to the private sector will continue 
to be reviewed and developed.

PROFESSIONAL  
SERVICES 

Within the sector, we celebrated a 
record year, having developed our 
proposition and expertise to 
support across HR, accounting, 
procurement, IT and more. A 
dedicated delivery team managed 
demand across all vertical 
markets. Though Brexit and IR35 
dominated conversations, it was 
our consultation on salary 
structures which delivered the 
most impact. Analysis revealed 
many companies do not have their 
finger on the pulse of realistic 
salaries for roles in the sector. Our 
experience and insight of the 
industry helped to plan structures 
and allow clients to understand 
why varying salaries presented 
opportunities for a wider talent 
pool, enabling better assessment 
of contractor availability versus 
budget. Additionally, we 
overhauled and realigned 
recruitment processes to help 
companies to mobilise new talent 
at the necessary pace to satisfy 
their projects. Looking ahead, we 
are harnessing the positivity to 
have emerged from IR35, which 
has seen clients assess where we 
can add value. We anticipate that 
the market will continue to grow 
alongside our delivery of services.
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Business model – our connected businesses

WHO WE ARE

We are an interconnected and 
diverse Company of scale. Our 
Group of complementary and like-
minded businesses provides a suite 
of people-centric services and 
products that are renowned for 
delivering quality and that continue 
to create value for our stakeholders. 

WHAT WE DO

Our family ethos is rooted in 
collaboration, innovation and 
excellence, enabling us to meet the 
changing needs and demands of 
our stakeholders. This best-practice 
approach delivers the collective 
infrastructure to create bespoke 
services and solutions.

 Recruitment
  RPO, MSP, neutral/hybrid vendor 

and workforce management 
 Design Consultancy
 Training 
 Technology
 Vetting

OUR STAKEHOLDERS
  Our employees – our staff sit at the  
very heart of the Morson Group 
and ensure we continue to deliver 
excellence for our clients, candidates 
and contractors

  Our customers
  Our suppliers and contractor workforce
  Our shareholders and finance providers
  The environment

OUR CLIENT PROMISES
1. Please do talk to us. As experts in our 

field, we will work to solve your 
challenges or know someone who can. 
We are problem solvers and solutions 
providers, allowing you to focus on what 
you do best.

2. Our people deliver. You will have CVs, 
candidates, concepts, solutions and 
thinking on time, every time.

3. We work to understand your operations, 
ensuring that we add value in the right 
places and at the right time. 

4. Experience matters. You will always be 
able to seek tailored advice from an 
expert in our business.

5. As a client of the Morson Group, you will 
receive the best service and a quality 
experience. 

OUR CANDIDATE AND CONTRACTOR PROMISES
1. Two-way communication is key. We promise to guide you along your career 

journey and during your assignment, to keep you informed.
2. We care for the personal and professional you. With compliance and career 

advice, we will take care of you whilst also recommending the skills and 
training you might need to make the most of your career opportunities.

3. We come to work to receive payment within the timescales we have agreed. 
We pledge to get you paid on time and in line with your contract. 

4. We look beyond the CV. You will always have access to an expert who  
not only understands your skills, your sector and our clients, but who also  
listens to who you are, your needs and ambitions to help us find the right  
role for you.

5. We are dedicated to improving diversity within the industries we work and, 
through strong mental health and accessibility initiatives, are actively 
committed to improving the lives of our workforce.

6. Let’s not forget, you are looking for your next move, be it short-term, 
long-term, national or international. Trust the Morson Group to find the right 
fit for you.
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HOW WE CREATE VALUE

 People are our focus
 Family-formed culture
 Commercial agility
 Financial control
 Innovation 
 Depth of offer
 Going the extra mile
 Contractor loyalty 
 Experienced and knowledgeable people 
 Valued communities

HOW WE SHARE VALUE

OUR PEOPLE
Careers with purpose,  
ambition and opportunity.

OUR CLIENTS
A suite of connected services 
and products.

14,900
engaged contractors

OUR COMMUNITIES

£2 million+
charitable donations over the past 
decade

OUR SHAREHOLDERS
Collective strength that supports 
investment and growth, both 
organically and through acquisition 
and forward planning.

OUR EMPLOYEE PROMISES
1. You are joining a family that will care for your mind, body 

and soul. We celebrate the good times together and look 
after each other.

2. You will be recognised and rewarded for your talent, 
efforts and achievements. 

3. We champion the Group with a long-term vision that 
means we can provide a sustainable, secure environment 
for you to work. You can rely on the strength of the 
Morson Group.

4. Training and development within your career is good for 
you and good for us. We nurture your ambitions. 

5. Our door is always open. We are a business that cares 
about its people, its reputation, its clients and you. 

6. We place people first! 
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Strategic framework

Be the unique and 
specialist recruitment  
and design agency that 
organisations and 
contractors want to  
work with and the  
most talented people 
want to work for. 

OUR VISION

#WEAREMORSON 
PLACING
PEOPLE FIRST

WHAT WE STAND FOR
Through everything we do, we aim 
to make a positive difference to 
people’s lives, whether that be our 
employees, clients, candidates or 
the communities in which we work.
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STRATEGIC PRIORITIES ONGOING ACTIONS PROCEDURES AND SYSTEMS

 O Ensure strong internal and external 
communication

 O Regularly seek out and act upon 
stakeholder feedback

 O Share best practice across our core 
sectors

 O Measure and monitor performance 
against key performance indicators 
(KPIs)

 O Embed our core values in everything 
we do to ensure they guide our 
business decisions

 O Connect and align our strategy with 
our culture

 O Prioritise sustainable working practices 
across the Group

 O Lead with a senior and accessible 
management structure that possesses 
high-level market experience and 
knowledge

 O Utilise multi-dimensional 
communication methods with 
Operational Board, management and 
our wider employee base

 O Invest in our IT infrastructure, staff, 
programmes and technology through 
continued innovation

 O Continuously improve in HSQE by 
developing measurable and targeted 
practices, behaviours and campaigns 
of change

Deliver best-in-class 
services that are trusted by 
clients and candidates

 O Remain knowledgeable about our key 
stakeholders to understand both their 
current needs and future talent and 
skills requirements

 O Continue to develop efficiencies 
throughout our operations

 O Reinvest in training at all levels of the 
business, including apprenticeships, 
upskilling, reskilling and work 
placements

 O Invest in our website, communications, 
marketing and media to establish and 
maintain a voice of authority

 O Develop our recruitment technology 
and business intelligence tool, 
Vencuro, to assist our clients in 
managing their workforce

 O Adapt our technology to enhance data 
capture and drive continued 
efficiencies

 O Assist clients and contractors in 
ensuring compatibility and compliance 
throughout legislative changes

Develop, then maintain, 
market-leading positions 
in core sectors

 O Identify niche areas and new revenue 
streams that align with our strategy 
and strengths

 O Plan, execute and support our strategy, 
appreciating timescales of delivery

 O Remain flexible and agile to changes in 
our marketplaces and the wider 
economy, including social and political 
influences

 O Select carefully considered investment 
opportunities

 O Build strategic office networks for 
delivery of our services, both in the UK 
and overseas

 O Continue to invest in our business 
units to enhance services, capabilities 
and reach 

 O Invest in the training of apprentices, 
our contractors and the wider Group 
workforce to develop future talent

Develop and invest 
in new income streams

 O Target growth that creates 
opportunity both within and for the 
business

 O Understand our stakeholder needs to 
retain and grow our current portfolio 
and win new business

 O Maintain efficient practices and cost 
control procedures 

 O Deliver strategic thinking and 
positioning in a changing marketplace

 O Establish clear aims for further 
development

 O Recruit and train talented people in 
the right areas to support growth

 O Identify targeted investment 
opportunities

 O Maintain experienced and 
knowledgeable management teams 
and Operational BoardEnhance shareholder value 

to enable reinvestment
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Business unit reviews

REVENUE

£736.9m
 (including North America)

MORSON TALENT
“The diversity and depth of expertise within the wider 
Group has allowed us to fill the majority of roles directly, 
whilst meeting our clients’ growing appetite for our suite 
of people solutions, which adds considerable value and 
reinforces our position as the strategic partner of choice.”

We delivered another good year, despite 
various challenging and influential 
factors. Numerous major projects either 
stalled or were taken off the 
infrastructure spending agenda 
altogether, for example, HS2, NuGen and 
Wylfa, with rail and power being two of 
our historical powerhouse sectors. 

In light of this, we focused on other key 
sectors and diversifying into new 
marketplaces, leveraging Morson’s wide 
range of products and services into 
various high-profile client wins stemming 
from the IT, technology, professional 
services, construction and manufacturing 
sectors. Also in construction, several first 
tier contractors appointed us as their 
Managed Service Provider (MSP).

Operating in technical sectors hit hard by 
chronic skills shortages requires a unique 
and targeted strategy to candidate 
attraction and retention. Investment into 
our website and technology has given us 
the tools to reach untapped talent pools 
and engage them effectively. 

Our ability to mobilise teams on-site, 
which in some instances was achieved in 
less than 48 hours, proved a major USP. 
We are able to support client’s in-house 
teams and act as a true extension to their 
capabilities by deploying experienced 
and appropriately skilled resource on 
their sites either via secondment, 
technical support teams or a complete 
outsourced solution. 

North America
Our North America operations further 
cemented their position in our core 
markets of nuclear, rail, construction, 
transmission and distribution, together 
with greater diversification into 
aerospace and other complementary 
sectors. As a Group of size and scale, we 
are able to leverage the Morson brand 
and our reputation in particular verticals 
to drive international growth within these 
global labour markets. Morson Canada, 

in particular, widened its service offering 
in Ontario, whilst driving significant 
growth in the number of permanent 
placements amongst new clients.

The year, however, proved to be an 
extremely difficult one for our Puerto 
Rico operations and as USA telecoms 
operations stalled, regretfully the 
decision was made to cease this business 
and withdraw. As such, Comtask and 
MCcomm Inc have wound down 
operations and we will focus only on core 
engineering and technical specialisms.

IR35 in the private sector
We cannot shine a spotlight on 2019 
without highlighting the impact of the 
upcoming reforms to IR35 in the private 
sector. Because we have delivered MSP 
services for decades, we are well versed 
in the requirements of off-payroll 
working, having supported various public 
sector clients and contractors through 
the 2017 roll out. This expertise has 
resulted in numerous new business wins, 
as organisations search for the right 
reputable talent partner to protect them 
and their operations. 

The recently announced delay to IR35, 
now coming into the private sector in 
April 2021, will soon be upon us. We are 
exceptionally experienced and well 
placed to help our clients develop their 
resource and supply chain capability to 
deal with this. We have presented our 
expertise in many forums and have 
awareness of the governance and 
compliance processes that will be 
necessary for all involved to embrace. 

We are here to solve challenges and have 
a track record for being flexible. We 
firmly believe that the changes will mean 
that quality talent services and people 
solutions such as ours will only become 
more desirable.
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REVENUE

£97.9m

VITAL HUMAN RESOURCES
“Vital had a record-breaking year, with sales and profit at 
an all-time high since joining the Morson Group. We 
focused on our core clients, diversified into new markets 
and adopted new measures to control costs. We also 
continue to strategically position the business for future 
growth, whilst cementing our geographical footprint.”

Vital Rail 
The new Control Period (CP6) that 
began on 1 April 2019 signalled a major 
commitment from Government to 
increase investment in maintaining and 
renewing railway infrastructure to 
improve reliability performance for 
passengers and freight users. The rail 
sector remains our heartland, and this 
announcement opened bidding 
opportunities to continue supplying 
skilled operatives, services and support 
to Network Rail’s ‘Putting Passengers 
First’ programme. Whilst there has been 
some delay to the spend on the 
programme, it runs for several years. 

We have continued our strategic 
partnerships and framework agreements 
with first tier contractors and principal 
suppliers, which totalled more than 40 by 
the end of 2019, including contracts with 
Network Rail. 

We are committed to upskilling the 
abilities and competencies of the 
c.2,000 workers we sponsor, in line 
with demand. Vital has created and 
rolled out a continuous improvement 
model for teaching and coaching staff 
that has been recognised by our peers 
as ‘best in class’. Our strength in 
additional markets also allowed us to 
offer further opportunities, for example, 
in the utilities market. 

Health and safety will remain of the 
utmost priority as we continue to 
develop new ways to protect our people, 
including the roll out of our Mental Health 
First Aider programme, which is detailed 
on page 41.

Our commitment to aim for 95 per cent 
of our workforce receiving a face to face 
briefing every quarter via our mobile 
fleet of Safety Units was taken a step 
further with the roll out of targeted 
discussions. To put the ‘health’ back into 
health and safety, we focused on a 
programme centred upon diet and 
fitness to encourage our workforce to 
adopt healthy choices when on-site. 

Vital Projects 
Having gained a Principal Contractor 
Licence in 2018, our Vital Rail Projects 
division secured contracts with Network 
Rail, helping position the business as a 
renewals operation in minor works for 
Network Rail and first tier contractors. 

Vital Resources
Our blue collar arm continued to perform 
strongly with a diverse offering, helping 
overcome delays 
to large infrastructure and power 
projects caused by Brexit. In fact, these 
delays presented opportunity 
to introduce a value-added offer which 
led to a greater volume of work than 
originally anticipated in some niche 
sectors and several notable client wins. 

Vital Solutions 
Successfully delivering several specialist 
high-profile rail projects, together with 
focusing our efforts on the very best 
service to our clients, resulted financially 
in one of our best years in this division. 

We strengthened our team within OLE 
signalling with the appointment of a 
senior operations manager and 
recruitment consultants, which provided 
resource to deliver a truly personalised, 
people-centric service to our clients.

PROTECTING LIVES ON TRACK
Our Trespass and Vandalism Patrollers 
continue working alongside train operators 
and the British Transport Police (BTP). 
Together, we monitor some of Network Rail’s 
busiest mainlines and most vulnerable 
locations and deliver potentially lifesaving 
interventions.
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MORSON PROJECTS
“Morson Projects achieved another positive year in 2019. 
Our Mechanical, Aerospace & Civil Engineering and 
Maintenance, Repair & Overhaul divisions went from 
strength to strength after winning a high-profile military 
aircraft contract to become the sole supplier of 
engineering services. We also entered new lucrative 
markets which saw us carve out a niche and achieve 
growth in the marine sector.”

Strategic Report

Business unit reviews continued

Having been awarded EASA part 21J 
privileges in 2017, followed by EASA 
part 145 privileges in 2019, we are now 
authorised to provide clients with a 
niche skillset, which is rarely found 
under one roof. We recently 
established a dedicated airworthiness 
department, which adds another 
specialist provision to our offer, and 
subsequently won a considerable 
framework with a national aviation 
regulator. 

The planned roll out of IR35 reform to 
the private sector in 2020, now 
delayed until April 2021, presented 
another new revenue stream to 
support clients and third-party 
organisations. Relying solely on 
HMRC’s CEST tool for determination 
may result in some companies falling 
foul of compliance requirements come 
April. The flaws and risks posed by 
CEST have been widely highlighted, 
which proved the catalyst for us to 
create our independent review 
software, ESChecker, and process. 

As the only end user in the Morson 
Group, we have decades of experience 
in delivering determinations and we 
are continuing our conversations with 
businesses into 2020 to offer 
ESChecker as an alternative to CEST. 
We are exceptionally well placed to 
help clients reconsider how best to 
structure engineering design 
procurement, with the suite of support 
and services the Group can now offer. 

Our Power and Automation Control 
Engineering division successfully 
delivered its first Independent 
Connections Provider contract, whilst 
continuing to support several historical 
and high-profile clients in power 
transmission, rail and power 
generation. 

And despite a difficult year in the 
nuclear sector, Asset Care and 
Technical Services, the nuclear arm of 
Morson Projects, maintained its 
position with a steady stream of 
income and revenue. It is positioned 
well for future new build and 
decommissioning work. 

We also continued working closely 
with our sister business, Waldeck, 
which provides us with the technical 
expertise to enter new complementary 
marketplaces and is a partnership 
which continues to strengthen. 

We cannot discuss our 2019 
performance without also mentioning 
the discontinuation of Morson Aircraft 
Engineering Services. It had grown to 
achieve seven Aircraft Line 
Maintenance stations across the UK, 
but the collapse of Thomas Cook saw 
the division unfortunately close shortly 
thereafter. 

REVENUE

£42.2m
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Bridgeth
e

0113 3801919 | THEBRIDGEIT.COM

THE BRIDGE
“The Bridge was named as one of the top emerging 
companies to inspire Britain by the London Stock 
Exchange (LSE) in 2019, having appeared in the ranking 
of the fastest growing and most dynamic UK SMEs.”

The grip of Brexit, IR35 and 
uncertainty in Westminster took hold 
in our core markets and, despite it 
being our second best year on record 
from a turnover perspective, it felt like 
a tough 12 months overall. 

As several of our historical clients 
reduced their recruitment numbers 
due to a downturn in the number of 
large change, transformation and 
software development projects, we 
witnessed considerable growth in the 
consultancy sector. 

Amongst technology start-ups there 
was a huge surge in demand for the 
best contingent and permanent talent, 
as a wave of new businesses entered 
the market to disrupt corporates and 
transform ways of life. The skillsets 
required, including software, data, 
cloud and AI, are notoriously difficult 
to source by internal recruiters, which 
enabled us to establish a new market 
specialism thanks to our ability to 
reach quality technical contractors. 

We also delivered a large culture and 
values message to embed ourselves 
into the sector, whilst respecting our 
boutique ways of working, upon which 
our foundations have been built. Our 
focus is to reward and retain staff by 
creating a positive environment that 
empowers our people and provides 
the motivation to deliver excellent 
service, day in, day out. We are doing 

this whilst also establishing new layers 
of management to provide clear 
progression pathways and encourage 
promotion from within. Our business 
model is built on relationships and 
developing a deep understanding of 
our customers’ needs, so that we can 
respond to their requirements with 
exactly the right fit. Our staff retention 
plays a major role in achieving those 
aims and improving the longevity of 
our clients and contractors.

We opened a London branch in one of 
the largest and fastest growing tech 
hubs in the UK. More than three 
quarters of all IT contractors are  
based in London and the South East, 
with this location providing real 
opportunity to immerse ourselves  
in fresh talent pools. 

Diversifying our model to clearly 
define what we do also allowed us to 
establish new sub brands, including 
software development and cyber 
security. Each is staffed by a specialist 
team of recruiters who focus on 
sourcing talent in these distinct target 
markets, giving us a true commercial 
advantage.

REVENUE

£27.5m
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ANDERSELITE
“The Anderselite brand is built on a successful model of 
spot professional and targeted recruitment, having 
provided clients with 40 years of recruitment services that 
they know and trust. In the business’s first full year as part 
of the Morson Group family, we focused on building on 
these foundations by creating a complementary suite of 
added value services. This meant adapting our model to 
complement the Group structure and clients we serve, 
whilst becoming more proactive and maintaining our 
core strengths.” 
A challenging year saw political delay 
impact some larger infrastructure 
programmes that we had anticipated 
would commence. We have had to 
adapt and seek business where we 
can, and our wide client base helped 
us through this difficult year. 

Being part of the Group has helped us 
enhance our service offering and 
marketing. In addition to microsites, 
recruitment portals, general marketing 
and social media campaigns, we now 
offer dedicated account managers. 
These provide a single point of contact 
to fully immerse themselves in our 
client’s business and get under the skin 
of their individual needs. 

We have successfully enhanced our 
Trades and Labour division to 
establish a team to focus on the 
changing compliance and legislative 
requirements. This division’s 
performance exceeded our 
expectations. 

Bringing our people with us on this 
change journey meant building a real 
community within Anderselite. We 
established biannual conferences to 
bring our team of people together to 
bond, establish coherent cultures and 
share in our objectives. 2019’s 
conference agendas focused on the 
roll out of our ten cultural 
commitments, which build on our 
strategy and fundamental values, 
together with defining and 
determining our ideal hero client. 

Focusing on our employees to look after 
their aspirations and experiences has 
been key and we continue to invest in 
devolving responsibility to upskill, 
develop and provide career progression. 

Strategic Report

Business unit reviews continued
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REVENUE

£7.2m

WALDECK 
“Since being acquired in November 2018, 2019 was very 
much a transitional period where we embedded and 
immersed ourselves into the Morson Projects culture, 
whilst working to overcome market uncertainty. The 
strength, depth and financial backing of the Morson 
Group has given us access to a wider array of clients, 
frameworks and resource, and embracing the shared 
family values and commitment to our people.”

The delays in decision-making due to 
the economic uncertainty around 
Brexit meant we remained focused on 
delivering core projects. The 
acquisition of the business was made 
at a time of difficulty for Waldeck and 
our focus for the year was to stabilise 
and understand how best to capitalise 
on the complementary strength we 
can bring to the Group. 

Continued growth in the rail sector due 
to the ongoing rolling stock upgrade 
plan has seen significant investment in 
modernising and extending stations 
and depots to accommodate new, 
larger stock, as well as station 
upgrades in preparation for the 
Commonwealth Games 2022. We are 
currently working on rail projects in 
Leeds, Doncaster, Coventry, Norwich 
and London for major contractors.

Our built environment sector is 
working on a growing number of 
residential and mixed-use schemes, 
offering a suite of integrated services. 
2019 saw us roll out new added value 
services within our Commercial 
business, including Clerk of Works and 
Building Surveying services. Originally 
based in the West Midlands, but now 
with strategic locations in the East 
Midlands and Manchester, this aligns 
us perfectly with continued investment 
in major cities which doesn’t show any 
signs of slowing. 

Ongoing investment in research and 
development helped us gain a 
prominent programme of digital 
surveys of 60 bridges for Network Rail. 

Our digital technologies remove the 
need to physically assess assets, 
providing significant time and cost 
savings, together with added security 
and safety benefits. With a further 
29,000 bridges within their control 
across the UK, the potential for more 
survey work in this and other similar 
markets is an exciting opportunity.

Our successful year of award 
nominations and wins also speaks 
volumes about our commitment to staff 
and clients, with 2019 seeing us scoop:

• A place as one of the New Civil 
Engineer’s Top 100 Companies to 
work for, Retail Project of the Year 
and Small Consultancy of the Year, 
CIBSE Yorkshire Awards

• Most Outstanding Infrastructure 
Consultancy – UK, Design & Build 
Awards

• Digital Construction Project of the 
Year and the Innovation Award, 
East Midlands Celebrating 
Construction Awards

• Young Achiever of the Year, 
Greater Lincolnshire Construction 
and Property Awards

• Consultancy of the Year, Greater 
Lincolnshire Construction and 
Property Awards 2020 Awards

Whether our clients require a single or 
multi-disciplinary solution, our 
expertise spans:

• Architecture and Design
• BIM Consultancy
• Civil and Structural Engineering
• Commercial and Risk Management
• Digital Capture
• Mechanical and Electrical 

Engineering 
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Financial review

The year 2019 saw revenue growth of 
9.9% and an NFI (Net Fee Income) 
margin of 9.7% (2018: respectively 
6.5% and 9.7%) which are good 
achievements in a challenging 
environment. Whilst adjusted profit 
before tax of £21.8 million* is a  
£2.9 million decrease from the  
£24.7 million achieved in 2018, the 
acquisitions and unusual charges 
have impacted.

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director
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It is important to also consider notable direct operational 
impacts that have been charged through the year too, 
these are contained within this report and the notes to the 
accounts and include:
• through 2018 three acquisitions were made and the 

operational challenges bringing them into the Group 
and assessing and assisting them have been 
considerable;

• changes in accounting standard IFRS16 regarding 
operating leases has resulted (see below) in a significant 
change in reported EBITDA which is £4.3 million higher 
and profit before tax is £0.2 million lower than it would 
have been under the 2018 reporting context;

• special events celebrating our 50 years in business at 
some £0.8 million;

• losses from discontinued operations were unfortunately 
£3.2 million incurred through firstly a £1.9 million charge 
re Morson Projects aircraft engineering services division 
following the demise of a core client and secondly a  
£1.3 million charge re the acquired USA based 
telecommunications business that saw trade 
diminish markedly.

Acknowledging all these challenges Morson Group has 
delivered a very creditable performance for the year 2019, 
growing revenues and developing the Group’s portfolio of 
services for our clients whilst retaining our technical and 
engineering focus. 

The COVID-19 pandemic that is now prevalent across global 
economies has impacted 2020 revenues and performance 
for the Group. However appropriate steps to manage the 
business have been taken by the Board and we have proven 
resilience and an ability to react to difficult situations in the 
past. Our financial systems have coped well with the 
disruption with remote working mechanisms put in place as 
needed. Appropriate testing and monitoring is and has been 
conducted and financial facility support is available to the 
business. Further discussion is provided in the going 
concern statement in note 2 to the financial statements.

The year 2019 saw revenue growth of 9.9% and an NFI (Net 
Fee Income) margin of 9.7% (2018: respectively 6.5% and 
9.7%) which are good achievements in a challenging 
environment. Whilst adjusted profit before tax of £21.8 
million* is a £2.9 million decrease from the £24.7 million 
achieved in 2018, the acquisitions and unusual charges 
have impacted.

* See derivation on page 25.

As is clearly demonstrated within this report and the comments of my colleagues, 2019 has been a momentous year. As a 
backdrop we have celebrated 50 years in business, had challenging economic pressures due to the political circumstances 
of Brexit, a significant legislative change with IR35 in the private sector (albeit its implementation subsequently 
postponed for a year until April 2021) and now of course, from March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic. All of these factors 
have impacted the market sectors and trading environments we supply to and many of our clients and thus, of course, our 
own financial performance. 

Financial and non-financial key performance indicators (KPIs)
Variance

Continuing operations
2019 
£000

2018 
£000 £000 %

Revenue 952, 138 866,742 85,396 9.9%
Net fee income (NFI) 92,284 84,097 8,187 9.7%
Adjusted EBITDA (see below) 30,919 28,638 2,281 8.0%
Adjusted profit before tax (see below) 21,752 24,697 (2,945) -11.9%
Conversion ratio (adjusted EBITDA to NFI) 33.5% 34.1% -0.6% -1.8%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 3.25% 3.30% -0.05% -1.5%
Interest cover being ratio of adjusted EBITDA to other finance costs 

(see below) 8.3 10.5 (2.2) -21.0%
Net debt 40,720 47,352 6,632 -14.0%
Average net debt during the year 43,332 31,827 (11,505) 36.1%

Number Number Number %

Average contractor numbers (not in ‘000) 14,900 13,700 1,200 8.8%
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Revenue and net fee income (NFI) from 
continuing operations
Group revenues in 2019 increased by 9.9% to £952.1 million 
over the £866.7 million achieved in 2018.

Recruitment saw revenues rise by 9.1% from £823.2 million 
to £898.2 million and engineering design consultancy saw 
revenue rise by 23.7% from £43.6 million to £53.9 million
in 2019.

Group NFI (gross profit) was up 9.7% to £92.3 million 
(2018: up 16.7% to £84.1 million). The split of NFI across 
temporary and permanent recruitment and engineering 
design consultancy was £75.4 million, £7.9 million and 
£9.0 million respectively (2018: £71.2 million, £6.2 million 
and £6.7 million).

Percentage gross margin NFI to revenues at Group level 
remained constant at 9.7% (2018: 9.7%) and across 
operating segments margin in temporary and permanent 
recruitment decreased to 9.3% (2018: 9.4%) although in 
engineering design consultancy and management it 
increased to 16.7% (2018: 15.5%).

Adjusted EBITDA and NFI conversion from 
continuing operations
Adjusted EBITDA increased by £2.3 million to £30.9 million 
(2018: £28.6 million) and at business segment level within 
recruitment activity increased from £28.5 million to £29.4 
million and within engineering design consultancy and 
management it increased from £2.0 million to £2.8 million. 

Group shared costs in 2019 were up by £1.5 million to 
£3.3 million (2018: £1.8 million). In 2019 Group shared costs 
included exceptional costs of Morson Group’s 50th 
anniversary celebrations of £0.8 million and corporate 
finance advice of £0.1 million. Operating profit decreased 
by 9.1% to £22.6 million (2018: £24.9 million).

Group ‘Conversion Ratio’ is measured as the ratio of 
adjusted EBITDA to NFI (as shown in the table on page 23). 
In 2019, a ratio of 33.5% has been achieved (2018: 34.1%). 
Conversion ratios at segmental level saw design 
consultancy increase to 31.2% from 29.2% and recruitment 
activity decreased to 35.2% (2018: 36.8%). 

IFRS 16 Impact on performance and position at 
31 December 2019
In 2019 the Group has implemented the new lease 
accounting standard IFRS 16. The standard removes the 
accounting distinction previously present between 
operating leases and finance leases for lessees and 
requires all leases to be accounted for on the balance 
sheet, by recognising a lease liability for future payments 
payable and an asset which the Group has a right to use 
under the leasing relationship. The rental expense incurred 
on leases previously classified as operating leases, which in 
prior years would have been shown in administrative 
expenses, is not shown in this way in 2019. Instead no 
rental expense is recognised as an administrative expense, 
but depreciation and interest expense are recognised 
instead. The total rental expense in 2019 would have been 
£4.3 million under previous rules, the additional depreciation 
expense recognised is £4.0 million and the additional 
finance cost recognised is £0.5 million. No adjustment or 
restatement of 2018 in this regard has been made.

The implementation of IFRS 16 has impacted adjusted 
EBITDA and the above ratios as noted in the table above. 
Adjusted EBITDA without implementation of IFRS 16 would 
be £26.6 million, a £2.0 million decrease from 2018 
adjusted EBITDA of £28.6 million. At business segment 
levels, within recruitment activity adjusted EBITDA would 
be £27.0 million, a £1.5 million decrease from £28.5 million 
in 2018, whereas within engineering design consultancy 
and management adjusted EBITDA would be £1.8 million, 
a rounded £0.1 million decrease from £2.0 million in 2018.

IFRS 16 implementation has also impacted Group shared 
costs due to a lease held by Morson Group Limited.  
A rental expense of £1.0 million has been reversed, a 
depreciation charge of £0.9 million has been recognised 
and a finance cost of £0.2 million has been recognised.

Group conversion ratio without implementation of IFRS 16 
would have been 28.8% (2018: 34.1%). Conversion ratios  
at segment level without implementation of IFRS 16  
would have seen design consultancy decrease to 20.5% 
(2018: 29.2%) and recruitment activity decrease to 32.4%  
(2018: 36.8%).

The below table shows the financial key performance indicators without the implementation of the 
new leases accounting standard IFRS 16 

Variance

Continuing operations
2019 
£000

2018 
£000 £000 %

Adjusted EBITDA without IFRS 16 implementation (see below) 26,607 28,638 (2,031) -7.1%
Conversion ratio (adjusted EBITDA to NFI) 28.8% 34.1% -5.3% -15.5%
Adjusted EBITDA margin 2.8% 3.3% -0.5% -15.2%
Interest cover being ratio of adjusted EBITDA to other finance costs 

(see below) 8.1 10.5 (2.4) -22.9%



25Financial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

Discontinued operations
In 2019 the Group discontinued the aircraft engineering 
services operations in Morson Projects Limited, which 
resulted in the closure of one of that Company’s divisions. 
This was largely precipitated by the downfall of one of the 
division’s major clients. The loss after tax recognised in the 
current year with relation to this discontinued operation is 
£1.9 million.

In 2019 the Group also took a decision to wind down three 
of the North American companies acquired in 2018, Global 
Comtask Inc and its subsidiary Mcomm Solution of Puerto 
Rico Inc and Commissioning & Technical Services (N.A.) 
Inc. The loss after tax recognised in the current year with 
relation to this discontinued operation is £1.3 million.

Exceptional items
In 2019 there was an exceptional cost of £0.9 million 
recognised in connection with goodwill impairment, 
corporate finance advice, reassessment of consideration 
payable on acquisition of businesses, and Morson Group’s 
50th anniversary celebrations.

In 2018 there was an exceptional cost of £0.8 million 
recognised in connection with acquisition-related fees, 
goodwill impairment, restructuring costs, negative 
goodwill and additional consideration payable on 
acquisition of businesses.

Finance costs
Finance costs incurred in the consolidated income 
statement include three elements. Firstly, a finance charge 
of £1.1 million (2018: £0.8 million), being the costs incurred 
on borrowings and facilities linked to bank base rates.

Secondly, there are finance charges of £2.2 million (2018: 
£1.9 million) for provision of banking facilities and financial 
payments along with charges from payment and receipts 
mechanism providers linked to day-to-day transactions.

Thirdly, there are interest charges on lease liabilities 
recognised in the current year of £0.5 million. These arise 
as a result of implementation of the new lease standard 
IFRS 16.

Derivation of key performance indicators from consolidated income statement
Continuing operations

2019
£000

2018
£000

Operating profit 22,605 24,869
Add: amortisation of intangible assets 1,939 1,740
Add: depreciation on owned assets and finance leases on continuing operations 1,414 1,213
Add: additional depreciation on leased assets (arising as a result of IFRS 16 implementation) 4,013 –
Add: exceptional impairment of goodwill 48 190
(Less)/add: exceptional (gain)/loss on reassessment of consideration payable on acquisition of 

business (30) 210
Add: exceptional corporate finance advice 130 –
Add: exceptional costs of Morson Group’s 50th anniversary celebrations 800 –
Add: exceptional restructuring costs – 751
Less: exceptional negative goodwill – (899)
Add: exceptional cost on acquisition of a business – 564

Adjusted EBITDA 30,919 28,638

Less: rental expense which would have been an administrative expense without  
implementation of IFRS 16 leases accounting standard (4,312) –

Adjusted EBITDA without IFRS 16 implementation 26,607 28,638

Profit before tax 19,831 22,972
Less: other income – research and development expenditure credit (966) (831)
Add: amortisation of intangible assets 1,939 1,740
Add: exceptional impairment of goodwill 48 190
(Less)/add: exceptional (gain)/loss on reassessment of consideration payable on acquisition of 

business (30) 210
Add: exceptional corporate finance advice 130 –
Add: exceptional costs of Morson Group’s 50th anniversary celebrations 800 –
Add: exceptional restructuring costs – 751
Less: exceptional negative goodwill – (899)
Add: exceptional cost on acquisition of businesses – 564

Adjusted profit before tax 21,752 24,697
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Derivation of key performance indicators from notes to the consolidated income statement 
regarding segmental reporting
Continuing operations

2019
£000

2018
£000

Variance
£000 %

Temporary and permanent recruitment services
Segmental operating profit 24,409 25,296 (887) -3.5%
Add: amortisation of intangible assets 1,689 1,699 (10) -0.6%
Add: depreciation on owned assets and finance leases 945 811 134 16.5%
Add: additional depreciation on leased assets (arising as a result of 
IFRS 16 implementation) 2,270 – 2,270 100%
Add: exceptional impairment of goodwill 48 190 (142) -74.7%
Add: exceptional cost of acquisition of businesses – 469 (469) -100%
Add: exceptional additional consideration payable on acquisition of a 

business – 210 (210) -100%
Add: exceptional restructuring costs – 685 (685) -100%
Less: exceptional negative goodwill – (899) 899 100%

Adjusted segmental EBITDA 29,361 28,461 900 3.2%

Less: rental expense which would have been an administrative expense 
without implementation of IFRS 16 leases accounting standard (2,384) – (2,384) -100%

Adjusted EBITDA without IFRS 16 implementation 26,977 28,461 (1,484) -5.2%

Engineering design consultancy and management

Segmental operating profit 1,225 1,363 (138) -10.1%
Add: amortisation of intangible assets 250 41 209 509.8%
Add: depreciation on owned assets and finance leases 469 402 67 16.7%
Add: additional depreciation on leased assets (arising as a result of 
IFRS 16 implementation) 890 – 890 100%
Less: exceptional gain on reassessment of consideration payable on 
acquisition of business (30) – (30) -100%
Add: exceptional cost of acquisition of a business – 95 (95) -100%
Add: exceptional restructuring costs – 66 (66) -100%

Adjusted segmental EBITDA 2,804 1,967 837 42.6%

Less: rental expense which would have been an administrative expense 
without implementation of IFRS 16 leases accounting standard (960) - (960) -100%

Adjusted segmental EBITDA without IFRS 16 implementation 1,844 1,967 (123) -6.3%

Core Group financial facilities have remained in place 
through the year. The Confidential Invoice Discounting 
facility has a borrowing charge calculated using bank base 
rates plus an agreed margin on amounts drawn. This 
flexible facility allows the Group to borrow only what it 
needs and thus the Group’s interest cost is commensurate 
with the working capital needs of the business. 

Interest cover, being the ratio of adjusted EBITDA to other 
finance costs, decreased to 8.3 times (2018: 10.5 times). 

Measured on the costs incurred on borrowings and 
facilities this would be 19.6 times (2018: 25.2 times).

NFI MARGIN

9.7%
ADJUSTED EBITDA

£30.9m
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Profit before tax on continuing operations
The Board feel the adjusted profit before tax measure 
helps understand performance and set out on page 25 
are the adjusting items deriving this and a comparator  
for the prior year. In 2019 this has fallen by 11.9% to  
£21.8 million (2018: £24.7 million). Actual profit before  
tax after these matters fell by 13.7% to £19.8 million  
(2018: £23.0 million).

Tax
The Group’s effective rate of tax for the year was 40.9% 
(2018: 40.8%), higher than the standard rate of tax of 
19.00% (2018: higher than standard rate of 19.00%). The 
key factors impacting this underlying charge for the Group, 
which tend to increase the tax rate, are the payment to 
parent companies for Group tax relief, absence of tax relief 
on certain amortisation costs, withholding tax adjustments 
on some overseas contracts and certain disallowable 
business expenses.

Offsetting these factors to a degree are certain costs that 
qualify as research and development expenditure and are 
eligible for the Research and Development Expenditure 
Credit (RDEC), which is recorded as Other Income.

Dividend
The Board has not recommended that any final dividend 
be paid (2018: no final dividend paid). A total interim 
dividend for the year of 15.66 pence per share (2018: 3.31 
pence) was paid. The total dividend was covered 1.7 times 
by current year earnings in 2019 (2018: covered 9.1 times).

Cash flow and financing 
Working capital funding is via the core invoice discounting 
facility that is secured on our largely blue chip debtor 
book. The directors believe this type of facility is entirely 
consistent with that used by companies providing similar 
services and is one that suits the Group’s business model 
very well. Costs are largely on a bank base rate plus margin 
basis and the facility period is to 18 December 2021.

At 31 December 2019 the capacity of the facility was  
£85.0 million (2018: capacity £85.0 million).

Net debt at the 2019 year end was £40.7 million (2018: 
£47.4 million) with average net debt over 2019 of £43.3 
million (2018: £31.8 million). We feel looking at average 
levels gives a better measure of true borrowings as 
fluctuations day to day can be material. The increase in 
average net debt levels is in line with expectations 
following acquisitions through 2018 and increasing levels of 
trade and capital expenditure. 

As noted below debtor and creditor days have remained 
broadly consistent with prior periods. Some other key 
impacting factors include:
• changing client specific volumes of activity, credit terms 

and payment profiles

• outgoing costs and expenses including: the timing of 
pay to the contractor workforce which is typically a 
Friday, investment in staff, structure, service delivery 
and acquisitions

• seasonal impacts for example public holiday periods of 
Christmas and Easter

Through 2019, working capital decreased by £7.0 million 
(2018: increased by £8.3 million), reflecting some of these 
factors. Cash collection patterns through the year were 
broadly consistent with prior periods across all businesses 
within the Group. Overall an indicative calculation counting 
revenue plus closing rate VAT back into trade and other 
receivables gives debt-turn at the year end of 54 days 
(2018: 62 days).

Tax paid during the year was £3.6 million (2018: £4.5 
million). Capital expenditure settled by cash was up by 
£2.0 million at £3.8 million with notable investment in the 
IT & systems infrastructure of the Group as well as 
continued improvements to the working environment.

Balance sheet
Group net assets at 31 December 2019 were £105.7 million 
(2018: £104.3 million). This increase principally reflects 
retained profits for the year.

Non-current asset levels have increased from £49.8 million 
to £64.7 million. This is largely due to an increase in 
tangible assets and recognition of right of use assets on 
the balance sheet as a result of the implementation of the 
new IFRS 16 leases accounting standard (£15.3 million of 
right of use assets have been recognised).

The principal asset of the business remains trade and  
other receivables of £169.6 million (2018: £176.2 million).  
As noted above the debt turn on this is broadly consistent 
with prior performance.

Current liabilities largely comprise trade and other 
payables of £71.9 million (2018: £72.0 million) and bank 
overdrafts and loans £46.6 million (2018: £51.0 million).  
The trade and other payables cycle is short as much of the 
cost of sales relates to workforce which is on weekly or 
monthly terms, so creditor days are ten days (2018: nine 
days). The bank overdrafts and loan figure are better 
considered at average levels, as discussed above.

In 2019 current lease liabilities of £3.6 million and  
non-current lease liabilities of £12.0 million have been 
recognised.

Further consideration of the going concern basis is 
provided in note 2 to the financial statements.

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director
30 June 2020
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Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board recognises that 
effective assessment and 
management of risk is key 
for the delivery of the 
Group’s strategic goals 
and operational 
requirements. 
Whilst the overall accountability to 
address this risk rests with the Board, 
risk management and the day-to-day 
practice and systems adopted must 
form part of the Group’s culture and 
processes. This is tailored within 
business units or sectors to match 
their circumstance and commercial 
requirements. 

Ongoing assessments are made  
within the Group to identify, evaluate 
and address the business risks we face. 
However, the systems are designed to 
manage these risks appropriately. We 
aim to provide reasonable assurance 
against all material misstatement  
or loss. 

As part of the risk management 
process, Operations Boards within 
each business unit, and sometimes 
also across these units that have 
shared relevant sector exposure or 
responsibility, are tasked with 
assessing the risks that apply. 
Appropriate systems are then 
developed and monitored to manage 

this and report back to the main Board 
on a regular basis. Some areas of risk 
are more centrally managed and dealt 
with across the business, for example, 
interest rate exposure via Group 
finance teams, whilst others are more 
operational and link to day-to-day 
practices and compliance.

Assessments are performed regularly 
and include:
• Non-financial formal risk assessment 

audits conducted by internally 
trained and qualified staff, for 
example, design peer review of 
programmes, health and safety 
audits for rail and offices, and 
contract operation and review

• Non-statutory external audits 
and advice

• Operational review and approval 
processes for commitments made 
by the Group

• Open and direct access to the 
executive team and operational 
directors for all employees

• Appointment of compliance officers 
with designated areas of 
responsibility

• A robust and caring approach to 
employee and contractor health, 
safety and wellbeing

• Detailed financial information 
disseminated to stakeholders of 
operations within the organisation

• Central review and control of 
reporting processes and data 
submitted 

Key

Increased risk

No change

Decreased risk

The Board carefully considers all 
reporting from Operations Boards and 
internal compliance teams, in addition 
to existing and new operations that 
might require new assessments to be 
made, and keeps itself appraised, with 
appropriate advisers, of latest 
practices and requirements within the 
markets within which it operates. The 
ongoing operational and financial 
performance of the business is a key 
part of every Board meeting and a 
main agenda item. Similarly, detailed 
reports are prepared within business 
units of a financial and operational 
nature and these are part of the 
day-to-day management of the 
business, often with real time 
information.

The directors have carefully 
considered the processes and systems 
in place to manage the risk profile of 
the business over the last year and for 
the future, and have taken appropriate 
action. Some of these material risks are 
identified below and include business, 
financial and that of the economic 
environment.
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Risk trajectory 
vs. prior period

Description of risk Measures to mitigate the risk

Business Risk

UK market and 
general economic 
cycles

Our clients have their own and 
often their customer’s demands 
and requirements to contend with, 
and this impacts upon their call on 
us for our services. 

Significant downturns may 
adversely affect business levels. 
The general economic wellbeing of 
the UK, which accounts for more 
than 90% of Group revenue, is 
clearly important. 

Government spending on defence, 
energy and infrastructure is a 
factor, as is wider aerospace and 
defence activity, being the largest 
sector for the Group. Similarly, 
upturns in economic activity can 
put pressure on client cash flows 
and lead to a different set of 
problems, for example, supply 
metrics and overtrading.

We remain close to our markets, listening to clients and 
seeking to understand both them and their sector 
resource requirements to help us plan for the near and 
far term. 

Whilst as a Group we remain focused on technical and 
engineering services, which is our core capability, we 
have sought to spread our sector exposure as this gives 
access to differing economic cycles. Acknowledging 
this, and that we also supply to a blended underlying 
remit of maintenance and new project work, reinforces 
the need to regularly review. 

Our predominance of supply of temporary, rather than 
permanent, contractors is also, we feel, a less volatile 
and more flexible income stream. Within the aerospace 
and defence areas we encompass military, civil and 
marine projects. We also supply a wide range of skillsets 
and can perform design work packages.

Brexit and 
associated political 
matters

The political discussion, debate and 
activity in this regard has been 
widely publicised. Towards the end 
of 2019 and in early 2020 some 
clarity has been achieved. However, 
there remains negotiation of the 
ongoing relationship with the 
European Union. The impact of this 
on the UK economy and business 
operations is uncertain.

The level of trade to and within Europe is relatively  
low for the Group at circa 1% of revenues.  
This is monitored and any new activity assessed in  
light of the political situation. However, we are aware  
of and acknowledge EU owners of UK companies we 
trade with.

The Group’s knowledge of its markets, clients and 
contractors is key, and we continue to liaise closely and 
consider what impact this might have on clients’ 
demands and our operations. Assessment is monitored 
and as the situation develops, we will adapt and change, 
as is required. 

Key client 
dependence  
and retention

Where particular clients comprise 
significant proportions of the 
Group’s activity, either cessation of 
our contracts of supply to them, 
reduction in business levels or 
failure to pay due sums could 
adversely affect profitability and 
cash flow.

It is a strategic aim to maintain the larger client 
relationships that we have managed to achieve and this 
is a key managed risk. 

Strength of client relationships is a priority for the 
Group, and innovation and development of service 
offerings helps longevity and understanding. We seek 
high financial strength and business integrity in clients 
with whom we contract, in particular those accounts of 
material size. 

These factors are monitored throughout the duration of 
contracts. Whilst cessation of any key contract is not 
desirable, there are several major clients in each sector 
where contracts do tend to periodically come back up 
for retender and any cessation would have an associated 
release of working capital. Acquisitions have tended to 
increase the client base of the Group rather than raise 
concentrations. 

New and emerging 
markets and 
acquisitions

As the Group seeks to expand into 
newer geographic or business 
areas, organic or acquisitive 
investment may be required and 
understanding of markets needs to 
be gained to ensure the cost and 
cash outflow is justified and the 
asset integrated into the Group.

The Board is careful in considering investment 
expenditure and regional and national growth. The need 
to expand the scope of services offered by the Group is 
assessed, balanced and controlled at sensible levels, 
whether organic or via acquisition. Acquisitions are 
made by experienced Board members of the Group with 
appropriate professional advice and assistance. Noting 
the more recent acquisitions and new business activities, 
due attention and focus on assessing returns and 
integration is being given to these.

Competition The recruitment market in the UK is 
well established, particularly in the 
technical engineering sector, and 
competition is fierce. At risk are 
existing business relationships, 
margins and contractor supply.

The Group has many years’ experience within our market 
and both a strong database of candidates and a solid 
client list. The Board is kept aware of pricing pressures 
within the market and all tendered material business 
development opportunities. Investments are made to 
develop services and IT platforms, to seek to provide 
market-leading solutions for our clients and business 
operations.
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Risk trajectory 
vs. prior period

Description of risk Measures to mitigate the risk

Business Risk
continued

Reputation Should standards of service 
delivery fail to meet the levels 
required or perceived, the Morson 
Group brand might be adversely 
affected, impacting brand value, 
business performance and current 
and future opportunities.

External and internal quality control processes and 
procedures are in place and monitored. The business 
culture within the Group is focused on professionalism, 
core values and delivering as a team on client and 
contractor service.

Staff, contractor and client groups are engaged to 
encourage awareness and develop positive relationships. 
Through social and charitable activities, the Group seeks 
to give something back to the communities that support 
our business.

Regulatory risk 
and compliance

The Company is required to 
operate in line with the laws and 
regulations of the countries and 
sectors within which it operates. 
This encompasses a wide remit, 
including contractual arrangements 
with suppliers, contractors and 
staff, data management and 
systems. Failure to adhere to these 
could expose the Group to fines, 
penalties, reputational damage and 
trade restrictions.

The Group has invested in its systems and the 
capabilities of its people to develop, maintain and keep 
up-to-date the knowledge and experience built up 
within the organisation. 

This focus on compliance continues each year with our 
teams keeping abreast of regulatory requirements via 
various means, including directly with governmental 
bodies, professional advisers, advice from membership 
of professional associations and consultants. The risk in 
this area has increased over recent times with much 
legislative and regulatory change directly impacting our 
sector.

Financial Risk

Borrowings and 
debt financing

The Group relies on debt financing 
to continue to operate its business 
model. The finance provider is key, 
as are the business processes 
surrounding cash flow within the 
business. If these are disrupted, 
there is a risk that the cash flow 
falters and that debt facility 
agreements are distressed.

The Group has a very strong focus on the working 
capital needs of the business and monitors these daily. 
Future plans and investment are always considered only 
in the context of available facilities and mindful that the 
Group can continue as a going concern and provide 
returns for shareholders. 

The debt financing facilities are regularly reviewed, and 
in 2018 a four-year arrangement was negotiated which 
has recently been extended for an additional year. We 
have a close working relationship with our finance 
provider and processes to monitor, plan and manage 
cash flow have been implemented commensurate with a 
business of our scale. 

Debtor failure to 
pay

Credit is extended to most clients 
of the business at varying levels. If 
client businesses fail or are unable 
to pay their debt to the Group, at 
all or on time, then cash flows are 
disrupted.

The Group engages strong internal disciplines and 
assessment with respect to levels of credit extended to 
clients, seeking to ensure that these commensurate with 
the clients’ status and ability to pay. Similarly, credit 
control procedures within all operating companies are 
robust, measured and, where issues do occur, they are 
swiftly escalated to senior management to resolve. 
Credit insurance policies have also been adopted in 
most material areas within the Group that can provide a 
level of assurance for certain debts, which has helped to 
manage risk in this area, although there are several risks 
which the insurance will not cover or where cover is 
limited. Unfortunately, 2019 has seen increased levels of 
client failure and where appropriate we have sought to 
limit exposure, provide against doubtful debt and review 
credit policies.

Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued
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Risk trajectory 
vs. prior period

Description of risk Measures to mitigate the risk

Operational 
Risk

IT systems and 
software

The business relies on a range of 
systems and software 
infrastructures to deliver services. 
Its database of candidates is a key 
asset. Loss or interruption of access 
to these could disrupt client and 
supplier services, creating risk to 
business operations.

There has been continuous investment in the IT 
infrastructure of the Group. This seeks both to improve 
operational functionality and protect and make more 
secure the platforms that they operate on and within. 

Investment in new hardware and software has been 
made. Planning and careful assessment of adverse 
scenarios and disaster recovery (DR) procedures are in 
place. The Group is aware of the heightened risk of 
cyber-attack generally. Additionally, the Group has 
undertaken a substantial operational exercise to ensure 
that we adhere to GDPR.

Staff retention and 
recruitment

There is a risk that staff holding key 
relationships and business contacts 
leave the Group. Similarly, 
appropriate recruitment of 
high-quality and motivated 
employees is needed to take the 
business forward.

Client relationships, particularly on larger accounts, are 
held across a spectrum of staff within the Group in order 
to provide the best service possible and to maintain 
knowledge across and within the organisation.

Staff wellbeing and morale is a high priority for the 
Board and a positive and dynamic working environment 
is encouraged to help recruit and retain the highest 
quality staff.

Internal and 
external reporting 
and operational 
control

The business must develop and 
support business systems to 
accurately measure performance 
and delivery on a timely basis. 
Failure to do so could lead to poor 
management information adversely 
impacting the decision-making 
process. This includes accurate 
assessment, measurement and 
reporting requirements across 
financial and operational areas of 
the business.

Significant investment over many years has been made 
in improving business systems and in the skilled 
personnel to operate and develop these systems in line 
with business needs. Staff are developed and trained in 
use of these systems to gain capability and 
understanding of them with appropriate cover. This also 
includes the attaining and training of our workforce to 
have the required skills for monitoring and assessment 
of contractual relationships the Group enters into and 
managing the delegated authority required to run the 
business. This entails engaging the staff within acquired 
entities to embrace these mechanisms and controls.

Medical Pandemic People and systems are at the 
heart of what the Company does as 
is the economic environment in 
which it operates. A sustained or 
severe spread of an infection, 
disease or similar malady or highly 
contagious illness might impact the 
Company’s delivery of services, its 
staff, client base and supply chain. 
At whichever regional level, this 
could lead to significant downturn 
in demand for services, challenges 
to operational delivery and adverse 
economic impact in all financial 
and operational areas.

The Company has a robust and tested disaster recovery 
policy and aspects of this and its ongoing investments 
into the technological base of the Company’s operations 
would assist many aspects of such a pandemic. 
Investment in these and their efficacy and continual 
improvement continues and is a cornerstone of 
Operational Board review. Staff welfare, awareness, 
engagement and training are promoted and are key and 
their means of working can be flexible and adapt to 
meet circumstance. For example the COVID-19 
pandemic impacting in 2020 has seen the Company 
very swiftly move to many staff working from home, 
with remote access to systems and minimising manual 
processes and intervention. Similarly adapting to clients 
changing circumstances is important and we have the 
commercial experience and agility to positively engage 
supplier and client requirements as needed. For example 
as COVID-19 has impacted we have seen changing 
contractor work patterns, again many working remotely, 
new authorisation systems, new working practices and 
contractual amendments adopted, all of which assist. 
From a financial perspective we carry insurance to help 
mitigate risk and carry financial facilities with capacity in 
excess of that needed and monitor and test this capacity 
regularly. 
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Going Concern
The directors are required to satisfy 
themselves as to whether the financial 
statements of the Group should be 
prepared on a going concern basis. As 
part of the ongoing duties and 
activities of the Board, there is 
continual assessment of the Group’s 
financial and commercial performance. 
This review considers business risks 
and uncertainties, discussed within the 
Strategic Report, that exist and takes 
account of how wider economic 
circumstances can impact these, 
including due consideration and 
assessment of potentially adverse and 
testing situations. The Board looks 
forward for a period of at least 12 
months from the signature date of the 
Annual Report and appropriate 
forecasts of financial performance and 
assessment of future business 
opportunities and challenges are 
regularly made. The directors have 
also considered the financial support 
required for these anticipated income 
streams and note that the Group’s 
current financing arrangements run 
until 18 December 2021 for its invoice 
discounting facility.

Additional comment is made in light of 
the negative impact of COVID-19 on 
trade for the initial months of 2020. 
The Board has closely monitored the 
impact of the pandemic on trade 

Strategic Report

Principal risks and uncertainties continued

across all business units, which has 
been varied, alongside the cost base of 
the Company. This and close contact 
with our clients has helped inform 
forecasts for future periods that have 
been regularly reviewed and updated. 
The core sectors the business supplies 
to are involved in key engineering 
delivery and maintenance and 
development of infrastructure and 
government backed programmes, for 
example energy, transport and military 
programme support. Many of our 
clients are long term customers and 
contracted on framework agreements 
that aid future visibility. These 
forecasts run past June 2021. We have 
stress tested these forecasts to look at 
levels of activity below and above that 
anticipated, and a more prolonged and 
severe down-turn also. We have also 
made assessments of cost saving 
measures that might unfortunately be 
required and are ready to enact those 
as the situation develops. In each of 
these situations the core invoice 
discounting facility that the Company 
operates for its working capital 
maintains a notable excess capacity. 
So, whilst the Board does consider 
that activity and revenue will increase 
through the latter part of 2020 and 
beyond, the business is capable and 
prepared should it not. Further, 
although the Board has already seen 
contractor levels and client activity 

start to increase, given the relative 
uncertainty of these times the Board 
has approached its long-term 
borrowings lender who has agreed to 
waive profitability based financial test 
covenant terms with respect to at least 
June 2021.

Having properly considered the 
matter, the directors conclude that 
they are satisfied that these financial 
statements should be prepared on a 
going concern basis.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board 
of Directors on 30 June 2020 and 
signed on its behalf by 

Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director

Dr Kevin Gorton
Group Managing Director

Adrian Adair
Group Chief Operating Officer

30 June 2020
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Section 172 statement
Stakeholder engagement 

As a business of size and scale, it is the 
responsibility of the Board, our 
Operational Boards and every layer of 
management, to ensure we maintain an 
equal and inclusive culture that is based 
on sound ethical values and expectations. 
Together, this remains a source of the 
Group’s competitive advantage. 

Our family-formed values and 
collaborative ways of working 
see the Main and Operational 
Boards be considerably involved 
in our operations. For example, 
the Main Board host regular 
meetings and each executive 
member of the Group also sit 
upon the Operational Boards of 
our business units. 

Whilst our directors and management 
teams are empowered through 
delegation to maintain the authority of 
the day-to-day running of the Company, 
the Board strives to understand the 
outcomes of stakeholder engagement 
at operational level to ensure these 
insights form part of Boardroom 
discussions and drive decision-making.

There are also appropriate proscribed 
levels of authorisation and control as is 
necessary and expected for a Group of 
our size. The Board also maintains an 
open-door policy so that it remains 
approachable, visible and available to 
our workforce at every level, which 
keeps it abreast of what is happening 
from the bottom up. 

It remains the Board’s responsibility to 
understand and consider the impact of 
its decisions upon the key stakeholders 
listed throughout this report by 
ensuring their views and interests are 
always considered. This enables the 
Board to factor in and discuss the 
long-term consequences of its decisions, 
consider the material issues that are of 
real importance to our stakeholders and 
recognise their immediate and long-
term needs and concerns. 

The principles of s172 of the Companies 
Act 2006 underpin good governance 
and enables us to deliver intelligent 
decision-making. The Board also 
recognise that not every decision will 
result in a positive outcome for our 
stakeholders, yet remain committed to 
ensuring our vision, purpose and values, 
together with our strategic priorities 
and strong corporate governance, 
continue to successfully guide its 
actions and deliver a balanced result 
that generates long-term value.

Achieving our vision requires us to 
maintain high standards of ethical 
conduct throughout everything we do. 
Our Company values and strategic 
priorities continue to guide decision-
making and we strive to ensure that 
trust, honesty and integrity are three 
core principles that sit centrally within 
all our business relationships and 
engagement strategies to deliver 
continued collaboration. 

Health and safety, for example, sits at 
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the very heart of the Group, with the 
Board having a responsibility to keep 
our workforce safe. Together, we deliver 
on this commitment by ensuring the 
Group continues to remain a leader and 
voice of authority in workforce welfare 
by achieving consistent high standards. 
For example, the ongoing evolution of 
our Work Safe, Home Safe culture and 
working practices, which strives to 
ensure that every single member of our 
workforce works safely and goes home 
safely every day, drives continued 
innovation and behaviour change that 
positively influences our stakeholders; 
with more information on page 47.

To ensure the Board maintains a 
strategic oversight and continues to 
develop a robust set of health and 
safety strategies, which are led from the 
top down, it receives regular reporting 
from the Group’s health and safety 
teams and Operational Boards and 
debates the topic within every 
Boardroom discussion to maintain 
awareness of key Company and 
industry issues. 

Stakeholder engagement 
Proactive and informative engagement 
with all our stakeholders plays an 
essential role in maximising the value 
that we deliver, and in maintaining the 
Group’s strength and success. We must 
continue to listen to and act in accord 
with our ethical values and our 
stakeholders by cultivating permanent, 
open, honest and fair dialogue. 

Our employees
Our Group culture, brand position and 
values collectively define the behaviours 
and ways of working that we seek to 
maintain. Established engagement with 
our people ensures they remain our 
brand ambassadors, as our colleagues 
are the very cornerstone of our services 
and Group offering. 

Building effective two-way 
communication between management, 
the Board and our people is necessary 
in order to properly gather their views 
and opinions. This was the foundation 
of our ‘You Said, We Did’ campaign. You 
Said, We Did demonstrates to our team 
what we’ve actioned in response to 
their feedback and recognise that their 
voices are heard at Board level. Some of 
our initiatives include:

• Our employee promises 
(see page 13)

• Our four new values 
(see page 4)

• The health and safety of our people 
(pages 40 and 41)

• Internal communication tools that 
ensure our entire team is kept 
informed of the latest news and 
developments, including updates on 

important issues and a printed 
monthly magazine

• Equality, diversity and inclusion 
(ED&I) (see page 38)

• Annual engagement surveys to gain 
honest insight into the issues that 
matter most and provide a platform 
that allows our employees’ valued 
opinions to be heard

• Dedicated health and wellbeing 
campaigns (see page 41)

• Direct access to the Board of 
Directors, including regular breakfast 
and lunch time workshops with our 
Chief Executive where our people 
are encouraged to discuss all manner 
of topics, with no conversation 
considered off the table

• Half-yearly conference with key staff
• Inviting our HR team to Board 

meetings to ensure our people 
remain front of mind

• Rotating the location of our Board 
meetings at various Group branches 

• Continuous training and professional 
development (see page 44)

Our customers
We place our customers at the very 
heart of everything we do, and we focus 
on building and maintaining proactive 
partnerships. Understanding their 
needs and behaviours allows us to 
deliver relevant people-centred services 
and products, retain key relationships 
and attract new ones, together with 
identifying opportunities for continuous 
improvement and growth. 

• Our client promises 
(see page 12)

• Quarterly meetings offered to all 
key clients (QBRs)

• Real time reporting for key 
customers, with indicators such as 
KPI performance and their 
percentage of overall Group turnover 
being some of the multiple insights 
fed into the Board

• The continued development of our 
services across each business unit 
(see pages 16 to 21)

• Experienced Marketing and Bid 
teams including training for current 
team members

• Live analysis of customer renewal 
cycles and new business 
opportunities

• Appointment of key relationship 
and account managers across all our 
key customers

• Social media engagement and online 
tools, including newsletters, blogs 
and thought leadership content

Our suppliers and 
contractor workforce
Maintaining an effective supply chain 
and contractor workforce through 
meaningful engagement ensures the 
security of the services that we supply 
and delivers speed to market. We rely 

on the high standards of our respected 
selected suppliers, and treat them with 
respect as we recognise the contribution 
to the Morson Group brand. 

• Our candidate and contractor 
promises (see page 12)

• Reporting of payment practices and 
payment terms

• Supplier feedback is garnered 
through methods such as contractor 
surveys, workshops, site visits and 
direct conversations. It is analysed 
and acted upon to deliver continuous 
improvements

• Regular meetings with key/preferred 
suppliers of business support 
services

In other places we work
As one of the larger employers in 
Salford, we have a responsibility to use 
the engagement methods at our 
fingertips to develop a long-term 
strategy that maximises our social value 
legacy within the communities in which 
we operate. We replicate lessons 
learned at our head office throughout 
our network of locations. 

• 50 Weeks of Giving campaign (see 
page 35)

• The Morson Engine Room and Maker 
Space (see page 44)

• Our annual charities and fundraising 
values (see page 43)

• Upskilling local communities (see 
page 41)

•  PR channels and media relations 
activities

•  Multiple sponsorships (see page 42)

Our shareholders and 
finance providers
All our shareholders remain informed of 
the Group’s operations. Their input and 
observations are welcomed and the 
Board take consideration of these in 
assessing strategic decisions and 
maintaining the long-term life, growth 
and evolution of what we do. The 
Executive team take a seat within the 
Operational Board of each business unit 
to ensure we work cohesively towards 
our overarching Group agenda and 
create a more sustainable future. 

The environment 
Preserving the environment is a core 
responsibility of the Group, with our 
actions and efforts guided and 
governed by multiple environmental 
policies, commitments and ISO 
standards. 

• Our drive to become net zero  
page 46

• For more information,  
see page 47
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50 Weeks of Giving 
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To honour our 50th birthday, we felt it was fitting to launch ‘50 Weeks of Giving’ and truly mark this milestone year. 
Gaining the buy-in from our offices across the globe, we pledged our support to numerous causes that were each 
nominated by members within the team, with such organisations and causes being close to their hearts.

Social value is of huge importance to the Group and our charity committee, which comprises of employees from across 
the Group and is led by its chairman David Robinson, continues to drive forward our charitable agenda and ensure we 
live and breathe our values to deliver positive impact throughout the communities in which we operate.

50 Weeks of Giving was a landmark programme of events for the Group and it celebrated ordinary people doing 
extraordinary things in the support of those less fortunate.
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Boden Lodge 
over 60’s club

Georgia House 
C19 Festival

Monton 
Unitarian 
Church

Cumbria & North 
Lancs Veterans 
Breakfast Club
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Together, these added value 
services enable us to infill 
and expand into new service 
lines and marketplaces, 
whilst supporting our main 
business units. 

VENCURO 
Built by recruiters for recruiters, 
Vencuro combines business 
intelligence with deep learning and 
understanding of recruitment to 
streamline and automate end-to-end 
processes and tackle labour intensive 
needs and tasks. 

Available as a stand-alone product, 
separate from the Group’s core talent 
services, the technology provides full 
visibility and complete control of 
candidate attraction, hiring and 
retention. It also delivers a competitive 
advantage by enabling users to 
capture, manage and analyse large 
volumes of data in real time. 

The single sign-on system comprises 
four stand-alone and intrinsically 
linked modules: Vencuro Comply, 
Vencuro Dashboard, Vencuro Time 
and Vencuro Talent. Each can be 
individually tailored to our customers’ 
wants and needs, for example, to only 
display data that is most pertinent 
such as ROI, KPIs and time to hire. 

MORSON 
SCREENING SERVICES
Morson Screening Services 
eliminates the time and burden 
of pre-employment vetting and 
streamlines the clearance process 
by providing customer-aligned and 
fully auditable solutions. 

These are underpinned by bespoke 
technology to deliver complete 
visibility over the screening progress 
of every candidate and enable 
organisations to manage their 
workforce effectively. The impact of 
this is significant, with the Morson 
Screening Services team turning 
around successful vetting in just 7.8 
days, compared with a much higher 
industry standard turnaround time.

With c. 150 individuals involved in  
the vetting process across our 
network of Group offices, the team 
delivers a thorough understanding  
of candidate screening journeys to 
deliver a smooth, efficient and 
transparent service. 

Added value services

AVERAGE VETTING TURNAROUND, AGAINST  
A MUCH HIGHER INDUSTRY STANDARD

Our suite of like-minded brands 
continues to evolve and expand as we 
strive to develop an enlarged Group of 
complementary service offerings which 
respond to the changing needs of our 
clients and contractors.
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MORSON TRAINING
Delivering award-winning safety and 
professional training programmes, 
Morson Training adds value to our 
clients by enabling organisations and 
projects to upskill, reskill and access 
the next generation of talent. 

Its team of expert trainers provide a 
growing suite of vocational, 
assessments and other types of 
technical training, together with 
delivering specialist apprenticeship 
programmes and consultation 
services. 

With a focus on quality and value, 
Morson Training has achieved 
preferred supplier status with major 
blue-chip clients, including Network 
Rail. Together with a network of 
dedicated training academies, the 
team can also deliver on-site training 
based on our clients’ sites. 

MORSON TECHNICAL 
SERVICES 
Delivering quality engineering and 
technical outsourced services to 
military and civilian customer support, 
production and maintenance 
operations sits at the heart of  
Morson Technical Services.
 
Bringing considerable expertise in 
aerospace and defence, this service 
offering extends to custom training 
and 3D solutions which incorporate 
the latest training, design and 
development technologies.
 
We work together with our clients  
to create manpower solutions that 
ensure optimum efficiency and 
effective delivery of the output.
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Social responsibility
Equality, diversity and inclusion (ED&I) 

True ED&I has real 
impact, not just on the 
lives of people from all 
walks of life, but in 
creating stronger 
cultures and broader 
empathy in workplaces 
across the country.  
We understand the 
complexities and 
opportunities of 
widening participation, 
and take our 
commitment to this  
very seriously.

Driving equality, 
diversity and 
inclusion in the 
sectors within  
which we operate.

Our 2019 strategy centred on LGBT 
inclusion, which forms part of our 
phased methodology to ensure that 
we drive inclusion in a focused and 
multi-faceted manner across all 
protected characteristics.

Our Rainbow Laces campaign saw 
rainbow-striped laces given to 
hundreds of our Track Operatives 
working on the London Underground 
for their safety boots, to champion 
and support the LGBT community and 
make our ED&I commitments visible. 
In addition to being given the laces as 
part of their uniform, contractors 
were thoroughly briefed on their 
meaning, whilst also receiving training 
in fairness, inclusion and respect to 
encourage discussions, and promote 
openness and acceptance.
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Launched a monthly Diversity 
Champions newsletter

Sam Price, head of client 
engagement, was recognised as 
a workplace diversity champion 
after featuring in the 2019 list of 
HERoes Women Role Models

Rebekah Lee, head of marketing, 
was named on Northern Power 
Women’s Future List 2019

2019 was our first year of completing 
Stonewall’s UK Workplace Equality 
Index – a benchmarking tool to 
measure progress on lesbian, gay, bi 
and trans inclusion. These results gave 
us fantastic insights into what we’re 
doing well but, more importantly, they 
also indicated where we need to focus 
our efforts to build on this foundation. 
True ED&I centres upon effective 
employee engagement and delivering 
positive experiences across 
everything we do. 

Our 2020 diversity action plan 
includes:
• Targeted engagement with groups 

that are historically the most 
difficult to reach

• Removal of gendered language 
from policies and processes

• Mandatory sign-off of all new and 
amended policies by a diversity 
board member

• Creation of an inclusivity toolkit 
and a staff handbook to champion 
inclusion best practice

DIVERSITY SURVEYS COMPLETED TO-DATE

DIVERSITY CHAMPIONS  
APPOINTED ACROSS THE GROUP
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Social responsibility
Health and wellbeing

STAFF DESCRIBED OUR MENTAL 
HEALTH IN THE WORKPLACE 
TRAINING AS:
 
• Inspiring
• Thought provoking
• Informative

Annual health MOTs are now 
available to all staff

MorFit was awarded ‘Most 
Innovative Benefit’ at the 
Recruiter Investing in Talent 
Awards 2019

Our health 
and wellbeing 
agenda is built 
into our DNA.
MANAGERS WHO HAVE RECEIVED 
MENTAL HEALTH IN THE WORKPLACE 
TRAINING SO FAR

Mental Health in the 
Workplace training has 
given me the tools, 
insights and confidence 
to be more aware of 
people’s behaviours, and 
to accommodate and 
improve the existing 
culture to ensure it’s a 
great place to work!

Appointed 
Heather Deering as our health, 
wellbeing and engagement 
partner 
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It was a shock to find out 
that our bodies were 
much older than they 
should be following our 
MOTs, which prompted 
us to make a change. 
We’ve since introduced 
Monday weigh-ins at our 
Broughton branch for 
those who want to take 
part and anyone who 
hasn’t lost weight must 
donate £5 to charity. Our 
whole mindset towards 
exercising and eating has 
shifted and we’re all 
seeing real change in our 
bodies and our mental 
health as a result. A huge 
thank you to Heather for 
looking after us!

Joe Hughes
Project manager at Morson Projects

HEALTH AND WELLBEING
2019 saw us appoint our first health, 
wellbeing and engagement partner, 
Heather Deering, whose role is to lead 
and expand our MorFit strategy to 
ensure our activities have maximum 
impact. MorFit was created according 
to a holistic approach, with ambitious 
targets set over various components 
relating to employee wellbeing; from 
physical and mental health, to 
financial wellbeing and more.

MENTAL HEALTH 
FIRST AIDERS
One pillar is our Mental Health First 
Aiders – individuals who act as 
reference points to spot mental health 
triggers within our workforce and take 
steps to offer assistance and 
guidance. Any working environment 
has the potential to exacerbate mental 
illness and we understand how crucial 
it is that our people are equipped to 
spot warning signs of declining 
mental health. The campaign, which 
first began with 20 First Aiders, has 
swelled to 40, and it’s our goal to 
reach 80 trained individuals.

‘Managing Mental Health in the 
Workplace’ training is now mandatory 
for anyone with line manager 
responsibilities, and ensuring broad 
acceptance of mental health and 
wellbeing is a Group-wide priority. 
Step-by-step guidance on fostering 
good mental health, personally, 
among teams and across the wider 
business, is provided. This addresses 
topics such as how to welcome 
someone back to work after a mental 
health-related absence and how to 
approach someone with signs of 
mental illness.

MOT HEALTH CHECKS 
Rather than rely on our workforce to 
act, we are bringing the health MOT to 
our people, to promote early 
detection and facilitate open health 
discussions. Since June 2019, together 
with our health and safety advisers, 
Heather Deering has toured the 
length and breadth of the UK, 
delivering on-site health checks; not 
only to our workforce, but for anyone 
available on-site. 

Blood pressure, body fat, visceral fat, 
body mass index (BMI), bone mass 
and metabolic rate are all measured 
by our health testing equipment. The 
painless, five-minute process involves 
the user placing their arm into one 
machine, stepping onto another and 
inputting data such as height and age 
into the computer’s health algorithm. 
The analysed data is then discussed 
privately to better understand their 
health profile, including any identified 
risks and subsequent actions to 
be taken.

#BreastFest
In October, Prevent Breast Cancer’s 
Boobee Bus toured three of our 
Manchester locations to speak with 
our team, offer advice and raise 
awareness of breast cancer and the 
benefits of regular checks. This was 
combined with a Testicular Cancer 
event to educate our staff on the 
facts, the risks and how to self-exam. 

FITNESS MATTERS
Numerous track roles involve manual 
labour, which means operatives must 
be mentally and physically fit and 
healthy. Many of our rail trainees have 
seldom done an intensive day’s work, 
so we enrolled our Manchester cohort 
of Level 2 Engineering Apprentices 
onto a six-week CrossFit initiative to 
improve their strength, aerobic 
fitness, agility, balance and flexibility, 
and to enhance their work readiness. 
Each weekly 90-minute fitness 
session incorporated several technical 
lifts associated with functional fitness, 
alongside strength and conditioning 
exercises. The sessions also taught 
teamwork skills and health and safety 
best practice, whilst promoting the 
mental health benefit of exercise. 

MOTS DELIVERED IN THE PROGRAMME’S FIRST SIX WEEKS
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Social responsibility
Our communities 

MORSON FORCES
Developed in conjunction with our 
ex-forces ambassador, Andy Reid, 
Morson Training launched a free rail 
programme to ex-forces personnel to 
reskill and upskill individuals and 
provide pathways to a new career on 
track. We have supported the British 
military for more than 20 years, with 
our team comprising several  
ex-military personnel. 

#TEAMMORSON  
AMBASSADORS
Our ambassadors motivate and 
educate the Morson family by bringing 
new perspectives and varied life 
experiences. Each share the same 
drive, determination, optimism and 
integrity that make excellent 
role models.

For 2019 they included: 

• Andy Reid MBE Corporal Andy 
Reid lost both his legs and right 
arm after stepping on an IED plate 
whilst serving with the 3rd 
Battalion the Yorkshire Regiment in 
Afghanistan in 2009. After 
spending only two weeks in 
hospital before returning home, 
Andy is a testament to overcoming 
adversity with a positive mindset. 
In 2019, Andy was awarded an MBE 
in the Queen’s Birthday Honours 
list for voluntary services to 
veterans and to people with 
disabilities. 

FORMED IN 2007, 
OUR CHARITY 
COMMITTEE 
CONTINUES TO LEAD 
OUR FUNDRAISING 
EFFORTS AS WE 
PLEDGE OUR 
SUPPORT EACH YEAR 
TO MULTIPLE 
WORTHY CAUSES

• Simone Roche MBE 
Simone launched Northern Power 
Women after spotting the need to 
focus on gender balance in the 
Northern Powerhouse, with the 
goal of making the north a driving 
force. Her career has taken her 
from scaling the ranks of the Royal 
Navy to roles at the London 
Olympics. It was when she became 
director for a campaign supporting 
women in the hospitality, leisure, 
travel and tourism industry and, 
subsequently, a champion for the 
Government Equalities Office, 
however, that gender equality 
became her passion. As our 
Diversity Ambassador, Simone 
promotes our commitment to 
diversity to engage a network of 
current and future leaders. 

• Anthony Crolla 
We’ve sponsored boxer, Anthony 
Crolla, from his earliest days. 
Training with coach Joe Gallagher 
at Amir Khan’s gym in Bolton, 
Anthony has had a well-
documented journey to becoming 
WBA lightweight world champion, 
after suffering a fractured skull and 
ankle when he tackled burglars 
fleeing from a neighbour’s home – 
injuries that could have ended his 
career. Anthony fought his last 
bout in the ring in November 2019 
but remains active in the sport, 
working to train the next 
generation of Manchester fighters. 

We inspire and support 
sporting talent through active 
sponsorships, which include:
Boxing
• Callum Smith
• Scott Quigg
• Robbie Davies-Jr
• Natasha Jonas
• Eccles Boxing School

Horse racing
• Paul Nicholls’ Stables
• Harry Cobden
• Megan Nicholls

Rugby
• Sale Sharks 
• Salford Red Devils 

2019 also saw us support  
and sponsor:
• Women in Rail’s Big Rail Diversity 

Challenge and 
#TransformTheFuture event 

• North West Diversity Forum – a 
roundtable event rooted in ED&I

• Morson Sport Panel – which 
brought together sporting greats 
to discuss the transferable links 
and principles between sport 
and business

• University of Portsmouth’s Formula 
Student (FS) Racing Team 

• Blair Projects’ ProtoEV Electric 
Go-Kart Challenge

• F1 In Schools’ Blackout Team 
• The University of Salford’s FS 

Racing Team Wilderness 
Navigators’ Mount Elbrus challenge

• Ex-forces veteran, Jake Gardner, in 
the Ultra Marathon Challenge – 155 
miles across five gruelling days 

• R-Ladies Manchester event at 
Thoughtworks – focused on 
creating diversity in data

• International Trade category  
at the Northern Automotive 
Alliance Awards

• Force Atlantic’s 3,000-mile  
race across the Atlantic 

At present, we have 
more than 2,500  
ex-military personnel 
working across client 
projects in the UK  
and overseas

RAISED IN THE 
LAST DECADE  
FOR WORTHY 
CAUSES
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS AND 
50 WEEKS OF GIVING
50 Weeks of Giving was our biggest 
ever charitable year as we pledged to 
donate to 50 worthy causes and align 
our charity ambitions to our half-a-
century birthday celebration. We are in 
awe of the enormous efforts of our staff, 
clients, contractors, supply chain and 
other partners, who came together to 
raise a staggering £130,000, which was 
evenly split between our two chosen 
charities: Motor Neurone Disease 
Association and ABF The Soldiers’ 
Charity – both fantastic causes. 

To truly mark 50 years, we asked every 
office worldwide to nominate a charity 
close to their own hearts to support in 
their region.

Diverse examples of the charities chosen 
include homeless shelters, care homes, 
youth projects and animal shelters. 

We are in awe of the enormous efforts 
of our staff, clients, contractors, supply 
chain and other partners, who also came 
together to raise money for our two 
chosen charities: Motor Neurone Disease 
Association and ABF The Soldiers’ 
Charity – both fantastic causes. 

Our employee-chosen charities 
for 2020 are Kidscan – Children’s 
Cancer Research, and Acorns 
Children’s Hospice.

Collectively, we raised  
and donated £218,000 to 
charitable causes in 2019

David Robinson is the 
chairman of our Charity 
Committee and continues 
to spearhead our social 
value agenda with his 
fellow committee 
members
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Social responsibility
Training, apprenticeships and future talent 

This is a flagship for 
Salford, for attracting the 
next generation of 
engineers and enabling 
industry to recruit from 
our talent pool. It is 
exciting to be working 
alongside Morson Group 
to build on our 
manufacturing pedigree, 
which gave birth to the 
first engineering courses 
dating back to the 
Industrial Revolution!

Dr Maria Stukoff
Maker Space director at the 
University of Salford

Demand for health and wellbeing training rocketed, 
particularly within the rail sector, as organisations 
recognise psychological health to be just as 
important as physical health. Together with greater 
awareness, our training programmes bring mental 
illness out of the shadows and shake off the 
enduring taboo surrounding it.

MADE IN SALFORD 
Our partnership with the University of 
Salford took a major leap in 2019, with 
the launch of the Morson Engine 
Room. The unique facility on campus 
supports collaboration between 
students and businesses by allowing 
education and industry to work 
together on industry briefs. Featuring 
the latest manufacturing 
technologies, which include a waterjet 
cutter, metal additive manufacturing, 
large format 3D printing, electron and 
optical microscopes, and reverse 
engineering metrology 
instrumentation, it enables students 
to learn real-world industry skills.

The Morson Engine Room builds on 
the Maker Space. Also located on 
campus, the Maker Space features 3D 
printing machines comprising a range 
of Ultimate S5, 3 and 2+ machines, a 
Markforged composite printer, and a 
high-resolution SLA resin Formlabs 
printer. Other equipment includes 
laser and vinyl cutters, and several 
spaces for assembling electronics, 
with a dedicated computer suite for 
3D design classes.

MORSON TRAINING
Morson Training was appointed to 
deliver Mental Wellbeing training to 
Network Rail line managers and 
support its ten-year occupational 
health and wellbeing strategy: 
Everyone Fit For The Future. The 
one-day course enables line managers 
to spot red flags and take steps to 
offer assistance and guidance. The 
course was delivered to 10 per cent of 
all line managers in 2019 and has 
targets of reaching 40 per cent by the 
end of 2020.

Morson Training was also awarded a 
significant contract to deliver safety-
critical training to thousands of 
operatives, whilst launching a new 
programme supporting a national 
housing organisation to develop 
mental resilience and  
transformational change. 

APPRENTICESHIPS
The outstanding quality of our rail 
apprenticeship programme was 
recognised when two of our 
apprentices were requested into 
gangs by Network Rail. Thomas 
Lyons, who was our 2019 Apprentice 
of the Year, and Blayke Reid, were 
commended for possessing the traits 
that every rail industry employer 
searches for in a trackman. 

GERRY MASON ENGINEERING 
EXCELLENCE SCHOLARSHIP
To-date, we have supported 35 young 
people by funding their academic 
studies at the University of Salford. 
The scholarships enable talented 
students, who would otherwise be 
deterred from university because of 
the associate tuition fees and living 
costs, to pursue a degree in 
engineering. Each worth in excess of 
£9,000, and funded by the Mason 
Family Foundation, build a strong 
pipeline of talent in sectors worst  
hit by skills shortages.

700+ 
Network Rail line managers 
received mental health training 



Financial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report 45Strategic ReportStrategic Report

THE UNIVERSITY OF 
SALFORD RECEIVED

Dr Maria Stukoff
Maker Space director at the 
University of Salford
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Social responsibility
HSQE: caring for our people and our planet 

We have been developing our 
2020 HSQE vision, which 
centres around numerous 
targets and campaigns, 
including the drive to become 
net zero by 2023.
Net zero means achieving a 
balance between the emission 
we produce and the emissions 
taken out of the atmosphere.

This vision includes:
• Reducing energy consumption per 

£million of turnover
• Introducing solar panels for on-site 

power generation
• Creating a circular supply chain 

versus our current linear model
• Prioritising sustainable and ethical 

procurement
• Ensuring our supply chain is free of 

modern slavery via Anti-Slavery 
policy checks

2,011
close calls raised via 
our safety app, up 
from 1,320 in 2018

BRIEFS CARRIED OUT BY OUR SAFETY 
UNITS FLEET AND IN EXCESS OF 
47,000 MILES TRAVELLED
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HEALTH AND SAFETY 
The health and safety of our workforce 
remains our utmost priority, as we 
continue to champion our Work Safe, 
Home Safe culture and working 
practices. Our Safety Matters Close Call 
App received 2,011 close calls, up from 
1,320 in 2018. This demonstrates 
continued buy-in across our operations, 
with each close call enabling us to 
deliver proactive actions. Our mobile 
Safety Units also continued engaging 
with front line workers, clients and more, 
by delivering health and safety briefings 
and promoting correct working 
behaviours. 

We also successfully transitioned to ISO 
45001 from BS OHSAS 18001 in 2019, 
together with strengthening our health 
and safety management systems. 

Our health & safety advisors:

Morson Talent
Gareth Morris, group director of health, 
safety, quality & environmental 
compliance

Vital
Dhiru Gadhia, head of HSQE 

Anderselite
Katie Hancock, safety and compliance 
manager

Morson Projects 
Sam Bowles, compliance manager 
(security controller)

Waldeck
Warren Monks, associate director – 
head of SHEQ 

ENVIRONMENTAL 
Our environmental focus is driven by 
a moral compass to do the right thing 
and a desire to be the best. We strive 
to minimise our environmental impact 
through positive and sustainable 
actions that drive measurable 
improvement, and we continue 
rethinking operational practices to 
reduce our carbon footprint. 

QUALITY
We continue to develop our quality 
management system and our 
behavioural cycle of ‘Plan, Do, Check’. 
We passed two external surveillance 
audits, together with numerous 
external and internal audits, all with 
flying colours, which gives us 
reassurance and third-party verification 
of our working practices. 

Our current ISO standards include:
• ISO9001 Quality Management 

System (Morson Talent, Morson 
Projects, Vital, Anderselite and 
Waldeck)

• ISO14001 Environmental 
Management System (Morson Talent, 
Morson Projects, Vital and Waldeck)

• ISO27001 Information Security 
Management System (Morson Talent 
and Morson Projects)

• ISO45001 Health and Safety 
Management System (Morson Talent 
and Morson Projects)

INFORMATION SECURITY
2019 represented our first full year of 
operating under the new ISO27001 
standard, which governs information 
security management systems. We 
pride ourselves on going above and 
beyond to protect the data of our 
clients, contractors, staff, supply chain 
and more. We operate rigorous 
penetration testing with our 
independent security partners to 
identify and rectify new vulnerabilities 
and mitigate the threat. 

Educating our employees and 
embedding the right security behaviours 
is also important, with our people at the 
front line of our security efforts. Every 
member of staff at Morson Projects and 
Morson Talent has undertaken Cyber 
Security Awareness training and 
received a desk audit, which we plan to 
roll out across the Group. 

BUSINESS CONTINUITY 
We understand the risks faced by the 
Group and annually act out four 
potential scenarios that have the 
potential to cause serious disruption to 
operations, amending our disaster 
recovery plan accordingly. The quick 
mobilisation of our workforce to work 
remotely, in light of COVID-19 has 
proven these plans to be robust.

FLEET
Almost three quarters of our emissions 
are derived from our fleet and we 
continue to monitor the automotive 
market as manufacturers work to 
develop new technology. Canning Town 
became the first branch to adopt a fully 
electric vehicle, and, as the technology 
gathers pace and improves, we are 
committed to adopting further models.

Vital Human Resources became the first 
business unit to adopt Shell’s fuel card 
scheme, Destination: Carbon Neutral, 
followed by Morson Talent in early 2020. 
By opting in, a decision that involved an 
extra 1p spend on every litre of fuel, we 
receive the benefit of offsetting our 
carbon emissions. Using the card 
enables Shell to track our fleet’s CO2 
consumption and purchase carbon 
credits equivalent to this figure, which 
are then offset through its portfolio of 
nature-based projects.

We also ensured our entire fleet became 
ULEZ (Ultra Low Emissions Zone) 
compliant with an ongoing vehicle 
renewals programme that began in 
January and ended in June. 

As part of our Silver Safety Campaign, 
we held a Driving at Work 
Consequences awareness day together 
with clients and the South Yorkshire 
Safer Roads Partnership. The interactive 
session included the importance of 
vehicle pre-use checks, understanding 
the consequences and impact of road 
traffic collisions and information on 
drink and drug driving. A virtual reality 
video put delegates in the passenger 
seat of a vehicle involved in an incident 
to demonstrate how they are dealt with 
and responded to by the Emergency 
Services. Its purpose was to showcase 
the effects of the accident not only on 
the driver, but other parties involved, 
including family members. 
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Board of Directors

GED MASON OBE
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Years of experience:
30+ years’ industry expertise.

Area of expertise:
Leads on strategic development, 
acquisitions and implementation 
along with directors, whilst sitting on 
all Operational Boards.

Added value advantages: 
Ged’s vision and leadership has 
evolved the Morson Group and driven 
forward its ambitions to the present day.

Education and credentials: 
Awarded an OBE for services to 
engineering and design and an 
Honorary Degree of Doctor of 
Business Administration (HonDBA) 
for services to the business sector 
and local area from the University 
of Salford. Ged also has a BA Hons in 
Business Studies.

KEVIN PHILBIN
NON-EXECUTIVE CHAIRMAN

Years of experience:
More than 35 years’ experience.

Area of expertise:
Advises on mergers, acquisitions, 
flotations, joint ventures and 
commercial relationships.

Added value advantages: 
Kevin has held non-executive 
directorships in numerous private 
and publicly quoted companies over 
the last 25 years, including AO World 
PLC, Premiere Group PLC, The Range 
Cooker Company PLC and Gold 
Medal Travel Group PLC.

Education and credentials: 
A corporate lawyer in private 
practice since 1984, Kevin was the 
Founding Partner of Atticus Legal 
LLP and is now the Chairman of 
Beyond Corporate Ltd.
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DR KEVIN GORTON
GROUP MANAGING DIRECTOR

Years of experience:
Joined the Morson Group in 1995.

Area of expertise:
Plays a leading role in the strategic 
development of the Group.

Added value advantages: 
Has extensive experience 
implementing sales strategies on a 
global basis across numerous 
multi-disciplined markets, including 
developing managed vendor solutions 
and operational delivery models.

Education and credentials: 
MBA and PhD in Strategic Finance.

PAUL GILMOUR
GROUP FINANCIAL DIRECTOR

Years of experience:
Five years with a professional firm 
then 29 years with Morson.

Area of expertise:
Leads on strategic acquisitions  
and implementation, whilst also 
spearheading the financial reporting 
and function of finance throughout 
the Group’s business units.

Added value advantages: 
Paul’s presence on all Operational 
Boards and close relationships with 
management teams drives standards, 
growth strategies and cohesion 
across the Group. His experience of 
the sector informs assessment and 
dealing with change management, 
legislative impact and operational 
challenges.

Education and credentials: 
Bachelor of Science Degree in 
Mathematics from Durham University 
and the professional qualification of 
Chartered Accountant ACA.

ADRIAN ADAIR
GROUP CHIEF OPERATING 
OFFICER

Years of experience:
20+ years’ recruitment experience.

Area of expertise:
Responsible for the Group’s 
operational and commercial 
performance.

Added value advantages: 
Adrian’s leadership style places 
equality, diversity and inclusion 
(ED&I) at the heart of the Group, 
working with Operational Boards to 
create a pipeline of talent which 
enhances the Company’s reputation 
as an ambitious, forward-thinking 
partner.

Education and credentials: 
Together with a BA Hons in Business 
Studies, Adrian completed an 
executive level leadership 
programme with Ashridge Business 
School on Finance & Strategy.
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Directors’ report

The directors present their Annual Report and the audited 
financial statements of Morson Group Limited (‘the 
Company’) and of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2019.

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Group is human capital 
resourcing, including acting as an employment business,  
a recruitment agency and the provision of technical 
personnel for engineering management and design 
consultancy. There have not been any significant changes 
in the Group’s principal activities in the year under review. 
The directors are not aware, at the date of this report, of 
any likely major changes in the Group’s activities in the 
next year.

Review of business and future developments

The strategic report on pages 3 to 47, including the 
Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 and 7, the Key Market 
Overview on pages 10 and 11, the Business Unit Reviews on 
pages 16 to 21 and the Financial Review on pages 22 to 27, 
report on the performance of the Group, including key 
performance indicators, for the year ended 31 December 
2019 and its prospects for the future.

The Chairman’s Statement, the strategic report and this 
report have been prepared solely to provide additional 
information to shareholders to assess the Company’s 
strategies and the potential for those strategies to 
succeed. They contain certain forward-looking statements. 
These statements are made by the directors in good faith 
based on the information available to them up to the time 
of their approval of this report and such statements should 
be treated with caution due to the inherent uncertainties, 
including both economic and business risk factors, 
underlying any such forward-looking information.

Results and dividends

The results for the year are shown in the Consolidated 
Income Statement on page 54. The directors do not 
recommend any final dividend (2018: no final dividend paid). 
An interim dividend was paid of 15.66 pence per share on 
24 July 2019 (2018: 3.31 pence per share on 21 December 
2018) to MMGG Acquisition Limited, making a total dividend 
for the year of 15.66 pence per share (2018: 3.31 pence).

Directors and their interests

The directors of the Company who served during the year 
and to the date of this report are GA Mason, PJ Gilmour, 
Dr KP Gorton, K Philbin and AW Adair (appointed on 
1 January 2019). In accordance with the Company’s Articles 
of Association, Dr KP Gorton will retire by rotation at the 
Annual General Meeting and, being eligible, offers himself 
for re-election.

The directors who held office at the end of the financial 
year had no interests in the shares of the Company. G A 
Mason, P J Gilmour and K P Gorton are shareholders and 
directors of GGM Holdings Limited.  Their interests in the 

shares of the holding Company are disclosed in the 
financial statements of that Company. According to the 
register of directors’ interests, no rights to subscribe for 
shares in or debentures of the Company were granted to 
any of the directors or their immediate families, or 
exercised by them, during the financial year.

The Group has made qualifying third party indemnity 
provisions for the benefit of its directors which were  
made during the year and remain in force at the date of 
this report.

Statement on employee engagement

The Group’s employees are its most important asset. Our 
policy is to employ the best people irrespective of race, 
colour, ethnicity, gender, disability, age, sexual orientation, 
marital status, religion or belief. We believe that we are 
then best placed to deliver the expectations of the Group.

Consultation with employees, or their representatives, 
occurs at all levels, with the aim of ensuring that all 
relevant views are taken into account when decisions are 
made that are likely to affect their interests. The Group 
strives to make all employees aware of the operations of 
their business units to enable, enhance and reward 
performance. Communication with all employees continues 
through in-house newsletters, messaging, meetings and 
the distribution of the Annual Report. A wide range of 
information is also available on the Group’s website www.
morson.com. During 2019 the Board continued to enhance 
the range and depth of information available on the 
Group’s intranet.

The Board is aware of the gender pay gap reporting 
requirements and these have been published on the 
Group’s website in 2019. There are several initiatives 
underway to help improve gender balance within our 
organisation and the wider workforce to promote 
inclusivity.

Applications for employment by disabled persons are 
always fully considered, bearing in mind the respective 
aptitudes and abilities of the applicants concerned. In the 
event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort 
is made to ensure that their employment with the Group 
continues and that appropriate training is arranged. It is 
the policy of the Group that the training, career 
development and promotion of a disabled person should, 
as far as possible, be identical to that of a person who does 
not suffer from a disability.

Further information on employee engagement is given in 
the Section 172 Statement on pages 33 and 34. 

Statement on business relationships

Details of how the directors have had regard to the need to 
foster the Group’s business relationships with suppliers, 
customers and others, and the effect of that regard, 
including on the principal decisions taken by the Company 
during the financial year is given in the Section 172 
Statement on pages 33 and 34.
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Environmental policy

Morson Group Limited recognises the importance of its 
environmental responsibilities and designs and implements 
policies to reduce any damage that might be caused by the 
Group’s activities. Initiatives designed to minimise the 
Group’s impact on the environment include safe disposal of 
waste, recycling and reducing energy consumption. 
Further information is given on page 47.

Charitable donations

During the year the Group made charitable donations 
amounting to £218,000 (2018: £148,000). The Group also 
seeks to contribute to the fundraising of many local 
charities and support groups serving the communities in 
which the Group operates. This can be done by supplying 
an award, prize or item for auction or sponsoring 
attendance at fundraising events.

Political donations

No political donations were made by the Group  
(2018: none).

Share capital

Full details of the authorised and issued share capital of 
the Company are set out in note 23 to the consolidated 
financial statements. The Company has one class of 
ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed income. 
Each share carries the right to vote at the general meetings 
of the Company.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding 
nor on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by 
the general provisions of the Articles of Association and 
prevailing legislation. No person has any special rights of 
control over the Company’s share capital and all issued 
shares are fully paid.

Creditor payment policy

The policy of both the Group and Company in relation to 
its suppliers is to set the terms of payment when agreeing 
to the terms of the transaction and abide by them provided 
it is satisfied that the supplier has properly provided their 
goods or services in accordance with agreed terms and 
conditions.

The Group’s trade creditors at 31 December 2019 were 
equivalent to 10 days’ purchases (2018: 9 days).

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual 
Report and the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial 
statements for each financial year. Under that law, the 
directors are required to prepare the Group financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European 
Union and have chosen to prepare the Parent Company 
financial statements in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. 
Under company law, the directors must not approve the 
financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give 
a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and 
of the profit or loss of the Group for that period.

In preparing the Parent Company financial statements, the 
directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them 

consistently;
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are 

reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have 

been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements; and 

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern 
basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

In preparing the Group financial statements, International 
Accounting Standard (IAS) 1 requires that directors:
• properly select and apply accounting policies;
• present information, including accounting policies, in a 

manner that provides relevant, reliable, comparable and 
understandable information;

• provide additional disclosures when compliance with 
the specific requirements in IFRS are insufficient to 
enable users to understand the impact of particular 
transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s 
financial position and financial performance; and

• make an assessment of the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate 
accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company 
and enable them to ensure that the financial statements 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also 
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention 
and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and 
integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the 
United Kingdom governing the preparation and 
dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

By order of the Board

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director
30 June 2020
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Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In our opinion:
• the financial statements of Morson Group Limited (the 

‘Parent Company’) and its subsidiaries (the ‘Group’) give 
a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 
Parent Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2019 and of 
the Group’s profit for the year then ended; 

• the Group financial statements have been properly 
prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union and IFRSs as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB); 

• the Parent Company financial statements have been 
properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice including 
Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosure 
Framework’; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance 
with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements which comprise:
• the consolidated income statement;
• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income;
• the consolidated and Parent Company balance sheets;
• the consolidated and Parent Company statements of 

changes in equity;
• the consolidated cash flow statement; 
• the related notes 1 to 29 to the consolidated financial 

statements; and
• the related notes 1 to 13 to the Parent Company financial 

statements.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by 
the European Union and, as regards the Parent Company 
financial statements, as applied in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the ‘auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements’ section of our report.

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company 
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audit of the financial statements in the UK, including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s (the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independent auditor’s report 
to the members of Morson Group Limited

Conclusions relating to going concern

We are required by ISAs (UK) to report in respect of the 
following matters where:
• the directors’ use of the going concern basis of 

accounting in preparation of the financial statements is 
not appropriate; or

• the directors have not disclosed in the financial 
statements any identified material uncertainties that 
may cast significant doubt about the Group’s or the 
Parent Company’s ability to continue to adopt the going 
concern basis of accounting for a period of at least  
12 months from the date when the financial statements 
are authorised for issue.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in 
the annual report, other than the financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial 
statements does not cover the other information and, 
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our 
report, we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 
doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are 
required to determine whether there is a material 
misstatement in the financial statements or a material 
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Responsibilities of directors

As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities 
statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation 
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as 
the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or the Parent 
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence 
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of 
the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at: 
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinions on other matters prescribed by the 
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course 
of the audit:
• the information given in the strategic report and the 

directors’ report for the financial year for which the 
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the 
financial statements; and

• the strategic report and the directors’ report have been 
prepared in accordance with applicable legal 
requirements.

In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the 
Group and of the Parent Company and their environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified 
any material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
directors’ report.

Matters on which we are required to report by 
exception

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 
in respect of the following matters if, in our opinion:
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the 

Parent Company, or returns adequate for our audit have 
not been received from branches not visited by us; or

• the Parent Company financial statements are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

• certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified 
by law are not made; or

• we have not received all the information and 
explanations we require for our audit.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a 
body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken 
so that we might state to the Company’s members those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s 
report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the 
Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Heather Crosby Bcs ACA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
For and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Senior Statutory Auditor
2 Hardman Street 
Manchester
M3 3HF

30 June 2020



54 Morson Group Annual Report 2019

Financial Statements

Note
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 952,138 866,742
Cost of sales (859,854) (782,645)

Gross profit 92,284 84,097
Administrative expenses:
– amortisation of intangible fixed assets 11 (1,939) (1,740)
– exceptional items 4 (948) (816)
– other administrative expenses (66,792) (56,672)

Operating profit 3 22,605 24,869
Other income 4 966 831
Finance costs 6 (3,740) (2,728)

Profit before taxation 19,831 22,972
Income tax 7 (8,102) (9,364)

Profit from continuing operations 4 11,729 13,608

Loss from discontinued operations (attributable to equity holders of the parent) 8 (3,155) –

Profit for the year 8,574 13,608

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 7,595 12,256
Non-controlling interests 25 979 1,352

8,574 13,608

The notes on pages 59 to 91 form part of the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated income statement 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Profit for the year 8,574 13,608
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit and loss:
– exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (67) 135

Total comprehensive income for the year 8,507 13,743

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 7,528 12,391
Non-controlling interests 979 1,352

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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Consolidated balance sheet
As at 31 December 2019

Note
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Non-current assets
Goodwill 10 40,107 40,155
Other intangible assets 11 2,196 4,389
Property, plant and equipment 12 7,110 5,266
Right-of-use assets 13 15,334 –

64,747 49,810

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 16 169,596 176,167
Cash and cash equivalents 16 6,079 3,865

175,675 180,032

Total assets 240,422 229,842

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (71,939) (71,957)
Current tax liabilities (368) (1,363)
Deferred tax liability 19 (17) (370)
Lease liabilities 22 (3,598) –
Obligations under finance leases 20 – (64)
Bank overdrafts and loans 17 (46,607) (50,962)

(122,529) (124,716)

Net current assets 53,146 55,316

Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables 21 (142) (602)
Lease liabilities 22 (12,011) –
Obligations under finance leases 20 – (191)

(12,153) (793)

Total liabilities (134,682) (125,509)

Net assets 105,740 104,333

Equity
Share capital 23, 24 2,267 2,267
Share premium account 24 37,607 37,607
Retained earnings 24 25,592 19,497
Capital contribution reserve 24 37,995 43,595
Translation reserve 24 226 293

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 103,687 103,259
Non-controlling interest 25 2,053 1,074

Total equity 105,740 104,333

The financial statements of Morson Group Limited registration number 05111937 were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on 30 June 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director

Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive
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Note
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Net cash inflow from operating activities 26 27,818 11,684

Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment (3,756) (1,739)
Acquisition of businesses net of cash acquired (756) (14,143)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 374 100
Proceeds on disposal of investment in associate – 203

Net cash used in investing activities (4,138) (15,579)

Financing activities
Dividends paid 9 (7,100) (1,500)
Payments made to Parent Company in relation to Group funding (5,388) (9,244)
Receipts from Parent Company in relation to Group funding 7 168
Borrowings repaid – (63)
Payments on lease liabilities (2018: payments on finance leases) (4,535) (80)

Net cash used in financing activities (17,016) (10,719)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 6,664 (14,614)
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes (95) (19)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16 (47,097) (32,464)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 16 (40,528) (47,097)

Consolidated cash flow statement 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
account

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000

Translation
reserve

£’000

Capital
contribution

reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

Non-
controlling

interests
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2018 2,267 37,607 7,065 158 43,595 90,692 (278) 90,414
Impact of IFRS9 adoption – – 1,676 – – 1,676 – 1,676

At 1 January 2018 (restated) 2,267 37,607 8,741 158 43,595 92,368 (278) 92,090
Profit for the year – – 12,256 – – 12,256 1,352 13,608
Exchange differences on translating the 

net assets of foreign operations – – – 135 – 135 – 135

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – 12,256 135 – 12,391 1,352 13,743

Dividends paid – – (1,500) – – (1,500) – (1,500)

At 1 January 2019 2,267 37,607 19,497 293 43,595 103,259 1,074 104,333
Profit for the year – – 7,595 – – 7,595 979 8,574
Exchange differences on translating the 

net assets of foreign operations – – – (67) – (67) – (67)

Total comprehensive income for 
the year – – 7,595 (67) – 7,528 979 8,507

Dividends paid – – (1,500) – (5,600) (7,100) – (7,100)

At 31 December 2019 2,267 37,607 25,592 226 37,995 103,687 2,053 105,740

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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1. General information

Morson Group Limited is a private Company limited by shares incorporated in the United Kingdom under the Companies Act 2006 
and registered in England. The address of the registered office is given on page 99. The nature of the Group’s operations and its 
principal activities are set out in note 3 and in the strategic report on pages 3 to 47.

These financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling because that is the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which the Group operates.

2. Significant accounting policies

Basis of accounting
The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the revaluation of certain financial instruments 
that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost is 
generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market 
participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation 
technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
if market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair 
value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis, except 
for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of IFRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of IAS 17, 
and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in IAS 2 or value in use 
in IAS 36.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to 
which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in 
its entirety, which are described as follows:
• Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the 

measurement date; 
• Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either 

directly or indirectly; and 
• Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability. 

The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below. These have been applied consistently throughout the year and to the 
preceding year.

Going concern
The directors are required to satisfy themselves as to whether the financial statements of the Group should be prepared on a going 
concern basis. As part of the ongoing duties and activities of the Board, there is continual assessment of the Group’s financial and 
commercial performance. This review considers business risks and uncertainties, discussed within the Strategic Report, that exist 
and takes account of how wider economic circumstances can impact these, including due consideration and assessment of 
potentially adverse and testing situations. The Board looks forward for a period of at least 12 months from the signature date of the 
Annual Report and appropriate forecasts of financial performance and assessment of future business opportunities and challenges 
are regularly made. The directors have also considered the financial support required for these anticipated income streams and note 
that the Group’s current financing arrangements run until 18 December 2021 for its invoice discounting facility.

Additional comment is made in light of the negative impact of COVID-19 on trade for the initial months of 2020. The Board has 
closely monitored the impact of the pandemic on trade across all business units, which has been varied, alongside the cost base of 
the Company. This and close contact with our clients has helped inform forecasts for future periods that have been regularly 
reviewed and updated. The core sectors the business supplies to are involved in key engineering delivery and maintenance and 
development of infrastructure and government backed programmes, for example energy, transport and military programme 
support. Many of our clients are long term customers and contracted on framework agreements that aid future visibility. These 
forecasts run past June 2021. We have stress tested these forecasts to look at levels of activity below and above that anticipated, 
and a more prolonged and severe down-turn also. We have also made assessments of cost saving measures that might 
unfortunately be required and are ready to enact those as the situation develops. In each of these situations the core invoice 
discounting facility that the Company operates for its working capital maintains a notable excess capacity. So, whilst the Board does 
consider that activity and revenue will increase through the latter part of 2020 and beyond, the business is capable and prepared 
should it not. Further, although the Board has already seen contractor levels and client activity start to increase, given the relative 
uncertainty of these times the Board has approached its long-term borrowings lender who has agreed to waive profitability based 
financial test covenant terms with respect to at least June 2021.

Having properly considered the matter, the directors conclude that they are satisfied that these financial statements should be 
prepared on a going concern basis.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

Adoption of new and revised standards
Standards affecting the reported results or the financial position
The following amendment has been adopted in the year:
• IFRS 16 Leases 

Impact of application of new standards
IFRS 16 In the current year, the Group has applied IFRS 16 Leases (as issued by the IASB in January 2016) that is effective for annual 
periods that begin on or after 1 January 2019.

IFRS 16 introduces new or amended requirements with respect to lease accounting. It introduces significant changes to lessee 
accounting by removing the distinction between operating and finance lease and requiring the recognition of a right-of-use asset 
and a lease liability at commencement for all leases. In contrast to lessee accounting, the requirements for lessor accounting have 
remained largely unchanged. The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements is described 
below. 

The date of initial application of IFRS 16 for the Group is 1 January 2019. 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach which:
• requires the Group to recognise an opening lease liability and a right-of-use asset at the date of initial application of IFRS 16, with 

any differences between the two balances being as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at the date of 
initial application (no such differences were noted on adoption); and

• does not permit restatement of comparatives, which continue to be presented under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

(a) Impact of the new definition of a lease
The Group has made use of the practical expedient available on transition to IFRS 16 not to reassess whether a contract is or 
contains a lease. Accordingly, the definition of a lease in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 will continue to be applied to those 
leases entered into or changed before 1 January 2019.

The change in definition of a lease mainly relates to the concept of control. IFRS 16 determines whether a contract contains a lease 
on the basis of whether the customer has the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. This is in contrast to the focus on ‘risks and rewards’ in IAS 17 and IFRIC 4.

The Group applies the definition of a lease and related guidance set out in IFRS 16 to all lease contracts entered into or changed on 
or after 1 January 2019 (whether it is a lessor or a lessee in the lease contract). In preparation for the first-time application of IFRS 16, 
the Group has carried out an implementation project. The project has shown that the new definition in IFRS 16 will not significantly 
change the scope of contracts that meet the definition of a lease for the Group.

(b) Impact on lessee accounting – former operating leases
IFRS 16 changes how the Group accounts for leases previously classified as operating leases under IAS 17, which were off 
balance sheet.

Applying IFRS 16, for all leases, the Group:
• recognises right-of-use assets and lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of financial position, initially measured at the 

present value of the future lease payments, with the right-of-use asset adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 
payments in accordance with IFRS 16:C8(b)(ii);

• recognises depreciation of right-of-use assets and interest on lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of profit or loss;
• separates the total amount of cash paid into a principal portion (presented within financing activities) and interest (presented 

within financing activities) in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

Lease incentives (e.g. rent free period) are recognised as part of the measurement of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
whereas under IAS 17 they resulted in the recognition of a lease incentive, amortised as a reduction of rental expenses on a straight 
line basis.

Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with IAS 36. 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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The Group has used the following practical expedients when applying the cumulative catch-up approach to leases previously 
classified as operating leases applying IAS 17. 

• The Group has applied a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably similar characteristics. 
• The Group has adjusted the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application by the amount of provision for onerous leases 

recognised under IAS 37 in the statement of financial position immediately before the date of initial application as an alternative 
to performing an impairment review. 

• The Group has excluded initial direct costs from the measurement of the right-of-use asset at the date of initial application.
• The Group has used hindsight when determining the lease term when the contract contains options to extend or terminate 

the lease. 

(c) Impact on lessee accounting – former finance leases
For leases that were classified as finance leases applying IAS 17, the carrying amount of the leased assets and obligations under 
finance leases measured applying IAS 17 immediately before the date of initial application is reclassified to right-of-use assets and 
lease liabilities respectively without any adjustments. 

The right-of-use asset and the lease liability are accounted for applying IFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.

(d) Impact on lessor accounting
IFRS 16 does not change substantially how a lessor accounts for leases. Under IFRS 16, a lessor continues to classify leases as either 
finance leases or operating leases and account for those two types of leases differently.

However, IFRS 16 has changed and expanded the disclosures required, in particular regarding how a lessor manages the risks arising 
from its residual interest in leased assets.

Under IFRS 16, an intermediate lessor accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The intermediate 
lessor is required to classify the sublease as a finance or operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head 
lease (and not by reference to the underlying asset as was the case under IAS 17). 

(e) IFRS 16 impact on profit or loss for the year
The weighted average lessees incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position 
on 1 January 2019 is 2.50%. 

The impact of IFRS 16 on the current year profit is shown below:

2019 
£’000

Increase in depreciation 4,013
Increase in finance costs 484
Decrease in other administrative expenses (4,312)

Decrease in profit for the year 185
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

Standards not affecting the reported results nor the financial position
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following Standards and Interpretations which have not been applied 
in these financial statements were in issue but not yet effective:

• IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over income tax treatments; 
• Amendments to IAS 28 Long-term interests in associates and joint ventures; 
• Annual improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 cycle – IFRS 3 Business combinations, IFRS 11 Joint arrangements, IAS 12 

Income taxes and IAS 23 Borrowing costs; 
• IFRS 17 Insurance contracts. 

The directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material impact on the financial statements 
of the Group in future periods.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries) made up to 31 December each year. Control is achieved where the Company has the power to govern the financial 
and operating policies of an investee entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the Group’s equity therein. 
Those interests of non-controlling shareholders represent ownership interests entitling their holders to proportionate share of net 
assets upon liquidation may initially be measured at fair value or at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value 
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis. Other non-
controlling interests are initially measured at fair value. Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests is 
the amount of those interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interests’ share of subsequent changes in equity. Total 
comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit 
balance.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income statement from the 
effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group.

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions. The 
carrying amount of the Group’s interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair 
value of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the Company.

Where the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the profit or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between: (i) the aggregate 
fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest; and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets 
(including goodwill), less liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to 
retained earnings) in the same manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities are disposed of. The fair value of any 
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the costs on initial 
recognition of an investment in an associate or jointly-controlled entity.

All intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable and represents the amounts receivable derived from 
the provision of services to customers in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales-related taxes.

Revenue arising from the provision of temporary recruitment services is recognised based on hours worked, following receipt of an 
approved time record. For those contracts where the Group acts as principal, revenue represents the amounts billed for services of 
the temporary personnel, including the direct costs of those staff. Where the Group is acting as an agent, revenue represents 
commission receivable relating to the supply of temporary personnel and does not include their direct costs.

Revenue arising from the provision of permanent recruitment services is recognised at the time the candidate starts work. Provision 
is made for the expected cost of meeting obligations should the candidate leave before the end of any contractual rebate period.

Revenue from long-term contracts, which encompasses the provision of engineering design consultancy and management services, 
is recognised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy on long-term contracts.

Business combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries and businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration for each acquisition is 
measured at the aggregate of the fair values (at the date of exchange) of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed and equity 
instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement as incurred.

Where applicable, the consideration for the acquisition includes any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration 
arrangement, measured at its acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent changes in such fair values are adjusted against the cost of 
acquisition where they qualify as measurement period adjustments (see below). All other subsequent changes in the fair value of 
contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability are accounted for in accordance with the relevant IFRSs.

Changes in the fair value of contingent consideration classified as equity are not recognised.

Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously-held interests in the acquired entity are remeasured to 
fair value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date at which the Group attains control) and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in 
profit or loss.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3 (2008) 
are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except that:
• deferred tax assets or liabilities or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance 

with IAS 12 Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively; 
• liabilities or equity instruments related to the replacement by the Group of an acquiree’s share-based payment awards are 

measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share-based Payment; and 
• assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and 

Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard. 

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, 
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted 
during the measurement period (see below), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised to reflect new information obtained 
about facts and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised as 
of that date.

The measurement period is the period from the date of acquisition to the date the Group obtains complete information about facts 
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date, and is subject to a maximum of one year.
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2. Significant accounting policies continued

Investments in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint 
venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 
Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated balance sheet at cost as adjusted for post-
acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. 
Losses of an associate in excess of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, 
form part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or 
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the costs of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent 
liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying 
amount of the investment and is assessed for impairment as part of that investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair 
value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

When a Group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest 
in the relevant associate.

Goodwill
Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired (the acquisition date). 
Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest (if any) in the entity over the net of the acquisition-date 
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities assumed.

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets exceeds the sum of the 
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as a bargain 
purchase gain.

Goodwill which is recognised as an asset is reviewed for impairment at least annually. Any impairment is recognised immediately in 
profit or loss and is not subsequently reversed. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s 
Cash Generating Units (CGUs) expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. CGUs to which goodwill has been 
allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the 
recoverable amount of the CGU is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro rata on the basis of the carrying 
amount of each asset in the unit. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period.

Goodwill arising on acquisitions before the date of transition to IFRS has been retained at the previous UK GAAP amounts, subject 
to being tested for impairment at that date.

Long-term contract accounting
Where the outcome of a fixed price contract can be estimated reliably, revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the contract activity at the balance sheet date. This is normally measured by the proportion that contract costs 
incurred for work performed to date bear to the estimated total contract costs, except where this would not be representative of the 
stage of completion. Variations in contract work, claims and incentive payments are included to the extent that they have been 
agreed with the customer.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019



65Financial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

Where the outcome of a fixed price contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract 
costs incurred where it is probable they will be recoverable. Contract costs are recognised as expenses in the period in which they 
are incurred.

Where it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised immediately as 
an expense.

Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position 
of each Group company are expressed in Pounds Sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation 
currency for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional 
currency (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each balance 
sheet date, monetary assets and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the 
date when the fair value was determined. Exchange differences arising are taken to the income statement. Non-monetary items that 
are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are 
translated at exchange rates prevailing on the balance sheet date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of 
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in 
equity (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss 
of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, loss of joint control over a jointly controlled entity that includes a 
foreign operation, or loss of significant influence over an associate that includes a foreign operation), all of the accumulated 
exchange differences in respect of that operation attributable to the Group are reclassified to profit or loss.

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to 
the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Leasing
The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the cumulative catch-up approach and therefore comparative information has not been 
restated and is presented under IAS 17. The details of accounting policies under both IAS 17 and IFRS 16 are presented 
separately below.

Leasing policies applicable from 1 January 2019
The Group as a lessee. The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group 
recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the commencement date, 
discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily determined, the lessee uses its incremental 
borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise:
• fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;
• variable lease payments that depend on an index or rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the commencement date;
• the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees;
• the exercise price of purchase options, if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise the options; and
• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the exercise of an option to terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the 
effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made.

The Group remeasures the lease liability (and makes a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:
• The lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change in the assessment of 

exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a 
revised discount rate.

• The lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a guaranteed residual 
value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using an unchanged discount 
rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used). 

• A lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the lease liability is 
remeasured based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group did not make any such adjustments during the periods presented.

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or before the 
commencement day, less any lease incentives received and any initial direct costs. They are subsequently measured at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.

Whenever the Group incurs an obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset, restore the site on which it is located or 
restore the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of the lease, a provision is recognised and 
measured under IAS 37. To the extent that the costs relate to a right-of-use asset, the costs are included in the related right-of-use 
asset, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease transfers 
ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects to exercise a purchase option, 
the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset. The depreciation starts at the 
commencement date of the lease.

The right-of-use assets are presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies IAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified impairment loss as 
described in the ‘Property, Plant and Equipment’ policy.

Variable rents that do not depend on an index or rate are not included in the measurement of the lease liability and the right-of-use 
asset. The related payments are recognised as an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers those payments 
occurs and are included in ‘Other administrative expenses’ in profit or loss.

As a practical expedient, IFRS 16 permits a lessee not to separate non-lease components, and instead account for any lease and 
associated non-lease components as a single arrangement. The Group has used this practical expedient. For the Group this 
constitutes non-recoverable VAT on car leases and service charges on property leases.

The Group as a lessor. The Group has taken part in a lease agreement as an intermediate lessor with respect to part of a property 
lease. The lease is classified as an operating lease as the terms of the lease do not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership to the lessee. 

As an intermediate lessor, the Group accounts for the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts. The sublease is 
classified as an operating lease by reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

Rental income from the operating lease is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Initial direct costs incurred in 
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
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Leasing policies prior to 1 January 2019
Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the 
minimum lease payments, each determined at the inception of the lease. The corresponding liability to the lessor is included in the 
statement of financial position as a finance lease obligation.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance expenses and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve a constant rate of 
interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance expenses are recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless they are 
directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on 
borrowing costs. Contingent rentals are recognised as expenses in the periods in which they are incurred.

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease except 
where another more systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the lease asset are 
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability. The 
aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except 
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset 
are consumed.

The Group did not act as a lessor prior to 1 January 2019.

Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after administrative expenses but before finance income, fair value movements on derivative financial 
instruments and finance costs.

Exceptional items
Where the directors consider that there are specific one-off material items, in nature or amount, that have impacted operating profit 
in the period, these are shown separately from other administrative costs as ‘exceptional items’ on the face of the consolidated 
income statement.

Research and development
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. Research and development 
expenditure credits are recognised in line with the year in which the eligible costs are incurred. The credit is recognised gross as an 
item in other income.

Retirement benefit costs
Contributions to defined contribution schemes are charged to the consolidated income statement when the contributions become 
payable in accordance with the rules of the scheme.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported in the income 
statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items 
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit and is accounted for using the 
balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax 
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that 
affects neither the tax profit nor the accounting profit.
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The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance sheet date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
possible that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the income statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in 
which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in equity.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax 
assets and liabilities on a net basis.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on all 
tangible fixed assets, at rates calculated to write off cost, less estimated residual value, of each asset on a straight-line basis over its 
expected useful life as follows:
Property improvements  life of lease
Office equipment   4–10 years
Fixtures and fittings  4–8 years
Plant and machinery  4–10 years
Motor vehicles   4 years

Intangible assets
Intangible assets recognised on business combinations, being customer relationships, CV databases and brand value, are 
recognised at their fair value on acquisition and are amortised on a straight-line basis to the income statement over their estimated 
useful lives, up to a maximum of five years.

Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill
At each balance sheet date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to determine whether 
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of 
the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows 
that are independent from other assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset belongs. An 
intangible asset with an indefinite useful life is tested for impairment annually and whenever there is an indication that the asset may 
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time, value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset 
(CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its 
recoverable amount but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is 
recognised as income immediately.

Amounts due from long-term contracts
Amounts due from long-term contracts are stated at net cost less foreseeable losses. Cost comprises direct payroll costs and the 
attributable portion of all appropriate overheads.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s balance sheet when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the 
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial 
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

If the transaction price differs from fair value at initial recognition, the Group will account for such difference as follows:
• if fair value is evidenced by a quoted price in an active market for an identical asset or liability or based on a valuation technique 

that uses only data from observable markets, then the difference is recognised as a gain or loss on initial recognition (i.e. day one 
profit or loss); 

• in all other cases, the fair value will be adjusted to bring it in line with the transaction price (i.e. day one profit or loss will be 
deferred by including it in the initial carrying amount of the asset or liability). 

After initial recognition, the deferred gain or loss will be released to profit or loss such that it reaches a value of zero at the time when 
the entire contract can be valued using active market quotes or verifiable objective market information. Depending on the type of 
financial instrument, the Group can adopt one of the following policies for the amortisation of day one gain or loss:
• calibrate unobservable inputs to the transaction price and recognise the deferred gain or loss as the best estimates of those 

unobservable inputs change based on observable information; or 
• release the day one gain or loss in a reasonable fashion based on the facts and circumstances (i.e. using either straight-line or 

non-linear amortisation). 

Financial assets
All financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a 
contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the time frame established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value through profit or loss, which 
are initially measured at fair value.

Financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: financial assets ‘at fair value through profit or loss’ (FVTPL), 
amortised cost, and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). The classification depends on the nature and purpose 
of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition. In the periods presented the Group does not have any 
financial assets categorised as FVOCI.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest income over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts (including all fees on 
points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) 
through the expected life of the financial asset, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Income is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as at FVTPL. The 
Group chooses not to disclose the effective interest rate for debt instruments that are classified as at FVTPL.

Loans and receivables
Trade receivables, loans and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are 
classified as loans and receivables. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less 
any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the 
recognition of interest would be immaterial.
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Impairment of financial assets
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. Where an indicator of 
impairment exists, the Group makes a formal estimate of recoverable amount.

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and the carrying amount is 
reduced to its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the fair value of an asset less costs of disposal or value in use, 
whichever is higher. An impairment loss is recorded in the income statement. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced 
by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced 
through the use of an allowance account.

A previously recognised impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset’s 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The maximum reversal of an impairment loss amounts to no 
more than the carrying amount of the asset if no impairment loss had been recognised, net of depreciation. Impairment losses 
relating to goodwill cannot be reversed in future periods.

An expected credit loss is recognised for trade receivables according to IFRS 9. The amount of expected credit loss is updated at 
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The expected credit loss is estimated using a provision matrix where trade receivables are grouped based on historical credit loss 
experience and characteristics that depict the credit risk of receivables (e.g. days past due).

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents on the balance sheet comprise cash on hand and demand deposits and other short-term highly liquid 
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. For 
the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents also include the overdrafts repayable on demand on the basis 
that these form an integral part of the entity’s cash management.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire; or it transfers the 
financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred 
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

Financial liabilities and equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into.

Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities ‘at FVTPL’ or ‘other financial liabilities’.

Other financial liabilities
Other financial liabilities, including borrowings, are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs. Other financial liabilities 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense recognised on an effective 
yield basis. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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Derivative financial instruments
The Group occasionally enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange risk. No such 
contracts have been entered into during 2019. Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in note 18 to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently remeasured to 
their fair value at each balance sheet date. A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset, whereas a 
derivative with a negative fair value is recognised as a financial liability. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated 
income statement immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing 
of the recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. No derivative financial instruments currently held 
by the Group are designated to be hedging instruments.

A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 
12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets or 
current liabilities.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will 
be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the balance sheet date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates and 
judgements. It also requires management to exercise judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. 
Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The critical accounting judgements made 
in the preparation of the Group’s financial statements are:

Valuation of intangible assets
The directors use their judgement to identify classes of intangible assets on business combinations. These intangible assets are 
recognised at the date of business combination and are valued using recognised valuation techniques and are amortised over their 
expected useful economic life. Valuation is reassessed where indicators of impairment arise including the discontinuation of 
operations.

The key sources of estimation uncertainty are considered to be:

Recoverability of trade receivables 
In considering the recoverability of trade receivables, the directors use their judgement to assess whether particular amounts are at 
risk and make provision for them accordingly. The Group takes into account the client base’s credit risk and estimates an expected 
credit loss based on this risk. The expected credit loss is estimated using a provision matrix where trade receivables are grouped 
based on historical credit loss experience and characteristics that depict the credit risk of receivables (e.g. days past due). 

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets
Determining whether goodwill or intangible assets are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the CGUs to which the 
assets have been allocated. The value in use calculation involves estimations of the future cash flows expected to arise from each 
identifiable CGU and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate present value. In making their judgement the directors consult 
within the business to assess potential future revenues and cash flows (see note 10 for more detail).

3. Business and geographical segments

The two reported operating segments in this note are the provision of temporary and permanent recruitment services and the 
provision of engineering design consultancy and management. These operating segments are consistent with the reporting 
regularly provided to the Board of Directors. It is these reports which the directors use to review the Group’s operating results, 
assess performance and make decisions about resource allocation.
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The Group’s business is described in sectors for the purposes of the Business Review and for some graphical presentations of 
performance. This is to enable readers of the Annual Report and financial statements to gain a better understanding of the breadth 
of our service offering as well as allowing an informed and helpful comparison to other organisations also operating in our markets. 
The database of candidates held by the Group to supply to these sectors is a combined one, encompassing a wide diversity of skills 
and talent and, whilst it has some sector-specific requirements, is in essence provided in the same manner across all sectors. 
Performance and analysis of activity by these sectors is not a key management measure, nor is it reported regularly to the Board of 
Directors and the business is not managed or divided internally by these sectors. The key information used to manage the business 
is by activity type, i.e. the provision of temporary and permanent recruitment services and the provision of engineering design 
consultancy and management.

Provision of temporary 
and permanent 

recruitment services

Provision of engineering 
design consultancy and 

management Total

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Gross revenue 909,912 833,327 53,992 43,678 963,904 877,005
Inter-segment sales (11,671) (10,166) (95) (97) (11,766) (10,263)

Revenue to third parties 898,241 823,161 53,897 43,581 952,138 866,742

Segmental gross profit 83,304 77,360 8,980 6,737 92,284 84,097
Administrative expenses:
– amortisation of intangible assets (1,689) (1,699) (250) (41) (1,939) (1,740)
Exceptional items:
– impairment of goodwill (48) (190) – – (48) (190)
– gain on reassessment of consideration payable on acquisition 

of a business – – 30 – 30 –
– costs on acquisition of businesses – (469) – (95) – (564)
– negative goodwill – 899 – – – 899
– restructuring costs – (685) – (66) – (751)
– additional consideration payable on acquisition of a business – (210) – – – (210)
– other administrative expenses (57,158) (49,710) (7,535) (5,172) (64,693) (54,882)
– exceptional shared costs – – – – (930) –
– shared costs – – – – (2,099) (1,790)

Segment result 24,409 25,296 1,225 1,363 22,605 24,869
Other income 82 99 884 732 966 831
Finance charge (net) (3,257) (2,645) (166) (42) (3,423) (2,687)
Shared finance income (net of shared finance costs) – – – – (317) (41)

Segment result after finance charges 21,234 22,750 1,943 2,053 19,831 22,972
Taxation (8,102) (9,364)

Profit after taxation from continuing operations 11,729 13,608

Loss from discontinued operations (1,278) – (1,877) – (3,155) –

Profit for the year 8,574 13,608

Capital additions 2,720 1,738 1,036 681 3,756 2,419
Depreciation and amortisation continuing operations 2,634 2,510 719 443 3,353 2,953
Depreciation and amortisation discontinued operations 50 – 17 – 67 –

Net assets
Segment assets excluding amounts due from other Group 

companies 185,348 185,857 27,473 25,627 212,821 211,484
Unallocated corporate assets 27,601 18,358

Consolidated total assets 240,422 229,842
Segment liabilities excluding amounts due to other Group 

companies (111,179) (114,187) (13,302) (9,155) (124,481) (123,342)
Unallocated corporate liabilities (10,201) (2,167)

Consolidated total liabilities (134,682) (125,509)

Consolidated net assets 105,740 104,333
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All revenues relate to the provision of services. Revenue split by geography is as follows:

Continuing operations
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

UK 896,156 796,131
Rest of Europe 6,041 6,549
Rest of World 49,941 64,062

Total 952,138 866,742

Discontinued operations
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

UK 4,672 –
Rest of Europe 768 –
Rest of World 2,797 –

Total 8,237 –

The centre of operations for all services delivered to clients is the UK. The directors consider that the Group does not generate 
material profits from overseas operations and therefore no further geographical segmental information is presented.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices. Within the engineering design consultancy and management segment 
there exists some provision of temporary recruitment services, however, this is entirely related to the provision of engineering design 
consultancy and management.

Segment profit is measured as those income streams and costs which are directly attributable to the segment in question. Segment 
assets and liabilities are those held within the segment in question with the exception of goodwill, which is allocated to business 
segments in line with note 10.

Unallocated corporate assets and liabilities consist of receivables and payables in Morson Holdings Limited and Morson 
Group Limited.

Included in revenues arising from the provision of temporary and permanent recruitment services are revenues of £108,129,000 
(2018: £94,676,000) which arose from sales to the Group’s largest customer. No other single customer contributed 10% or more to 
the Group’s revenue in 2019 or 2018.
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2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 12) 1,481 1,213
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (note 13) 4,013 –
Impairment loss in property, plant and equipment (note 12) 60 –
Impairment loss in intangible assets (note 11) 254 –
Foreign exchange losses/(gains) 107 (126)
Gain on disposal of fixed assets (3) (9)
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 11) 1,939 1,740
Staff costs (see note 5) 92,231 74,859
Research and development expenditure 10,148 8,840
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts 1,025 (789)
Other income:
– research and development expenditure credit (966) (831)
Exceptional items:
– impairment of goodwill 48 190
– costs incurred for Morson Group’s 50th Anniversary celebrations 800 –
– gain on reassessment of consideration payable on acquisition of businesses (30) –
– corporate finance advice 130 –
– negative goodwill – (899)
– restructuring costs – 751
– costs on acquisition of businesses – 564
– additional consideration payable on acquisition of business – 210

During the year ended 31 December 2019 an exceptional charge of £48,000 was recognised in the income statement in relation to 
the impairment of goodwill in relation to Electrostaff.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 an exceptional charge of £800,000 was recognised in the income statement in relation to 
costs incurred for Morson Group’s 50th anniversary celebrations.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 an exceptional gain of £30,000 was recognised in the income statement upon the 
reassessment of consideration payable for the acquisition of Waldeck Holdings Limited. On 1 November 2018 the Company acquired 
the entire share capital of Waldeck Holdings Limited for a total consideration of £1,608,000 of which £809,000 was deferred at 
31 December 2019. Deferred consideration was due in instalments and was contingent upon financial results achieved in the period 
post acquisition. A reassessment of the outcome of this transaction has been made during the year, resulting in a reduction in 
consideration payable of £30,000 which has been taken to the income statement.

During the year ended 31 December 2019 an exceptional charge of £130,000 was recognised in the income statement in relation to 
professional fees incurred for corporate finance advice.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 exceptional income of £899,000 was recognised in the income statement in relation to 
negative goodwill recognised on the acquisition of Anderselite Holdings Limited.

After the acquisition of Waldeck Holdings Limited and Anderselite Holdings Limited, the Group implemented a restructuring 
programme as part of the integration of these entities into the wider Group. As a result, an exceptional charge of £751,000 was 
recognised in the income statement in relation to restructuring costs.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 exceptional professional fees of £564,000 were incurred regarding the acquisition of 
Strategic Infusion Inc., Anderselite Holdings Limited and Waldeck Holdings Limited.

During the year ended 31 December 2018 an exceptional charge of £210,000 was incurred in relation to the acquisition of The 
Bridge (IT Recruitment) Limited. The acquisition was completed on 17 August 2017 with contingent consideration of £1,000,000 
recognised on acquisition. The consideration was contingent upon financial results achieved in the twelve month period post 
acquisition. This post-acquisition period ended during 2018 and the final performance resulted in £210,000 additional consideration 
paid in the year, in excess of the amount initially recognised.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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During the year ended 31 December 2018 an exceptional charge of £190,000 was recognised in the income statement in relation to 
the impairment of goodwill in relation to Electrostaff.

The analysis of the auditor’s remuneration is as follows:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for the audit of the Company’s 
annual accounts 20 19

Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services to the Group
– the audit of the Company’s subsidiaries 206 231

Total audit fees 226 250

– corporate finance services 60 218
– tax compliance services – 14

Total non-audit fees 60 232

5. Staff costs

The average monthly number of employees (including Executive Directors) was:

2019 2018

Directors and recruitment managers 503 433
Administrative and support staff 539 438
Providing services to clients 1,058 912

2,100 1,783

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Wages and salaries 80,369 65,927
Social security costs 9,467 7,252
Other pension costs (see note 28) 2,395 1,680

92,231 74,859

The remuneration of key management personnel is disclosed in note 29.

6. Finance costs

Continuing operations
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 1,073 799
Interest on lease liabilities 484 –
Interest on obligations under finance leases – 7
Other finance and transactional costs 2,183 1,922

Total finance costs 3,740 2,728

Discontinued operations
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Other finance and transactional costs 17 –

Total other finance costs 17 –

The loans and overdraft which result in the interest charge are described in more detail in note 17.

No gains or losses have been recognised on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.
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7. Taxation

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Current tax:
– current year 8,289 9,529
– adjustments in respect of prior years 77 (164)
Deferred tax (see note 19):
– current year (220) (26)
– prior year (44) 25

8,102 9,364

Corporation tax is calculated at 19.00% (2018: 19.00%) of the estimated assessable profit for the year.

Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rate prevailing in the respective jurisdiction.

Finance Bill 2016 enacted provisions to reduce the main rate of UK corporation tax to 17% from 1 April 2020. However, in the March 
2020 Budget it was announced that the reduction in the UK rate to 17% will now not occur and the corporation tax rate will be held 
at 19%. As substantive enactment is after the balance sheet date, deferred tax balances as at 31 December 2019 continue to be 
measured at a rate of 17%.

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit as per the income statement as follows:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Profit before taxation 19,831 22,972

Tax at the UK corporation tax rate of 19.00% (2018: 19.00%) 3,768 4,365
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 367 381
Income not taxable (60) (276)
Fixed asset differences 66 63
Tax effect of higher rates of tax on overseas income 409 692
Group relief payment 3,846 3,966
Deferred tax movement not recognised (11) 320
Impact of change in rate of corporation tax 8 (8)
Adjustments to tax charge in respect of prior periods 33 (139)
Effect of research and development tax credits 16 –
Effect of discontinued operations (340) –

Tax expense for the year 8,102 9,364

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
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8. Discontinued operations

In 2019 the Group made a decision to discontinue the aircraft engineering services operation which resulted in the closure of one of 
the divisions in Morson Projects Limited (referred to as “MAES division” below). This was largely impacted by the downfall of one of 
the division’s major clients.

In 2019 the Group made a decision to discontinue the operations of Comtask Global Inc., its subsidiary Mcomm Solution of Puerto 
Rico Inc. and Commissioning & Technical Services (N.A.) Inc. (referred to collectively below as Comtask Group and CTSNA). The 
companies are being wound down in 2020. These companies are together considered one discontinued operation as they all 
provide services in one geographical location and in one main sector. The decision to discontinue was largely due to a downturn in 
performance.

Comtask Group 
and CTSNA

£’000

MAES 
division

£’000

Total
2019

£’000

Performance of discontinued operations
Revenue 2,504 5,733 8,237
Expenses other than finance costs (3,555) (7,610) (11,165)
Finance costs (17) – (17)

Loss before tax (1,068) (1,877) (2,945)
Tax expense (210) – (210)

Loss from discontinued operations (1,278) (1,877) (3,155)

Exchange differences on translation of discontinued operations (16) – (16)

Other comprehensive expense from discontinued operations (16) – (16)

Comtask Group 
and CTSNA

£’000

MAES 
division

£’000

Total
2019

£’000

Statement of cash flows
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 556 (426) 130
Net cash inflow from investing activities 9 133 142

Net cash increase/(decrease) generated by discontinued operations 565 (293) 272

9. Dividends

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the year:
Interim dividends for the year ended 31 December 2019 of 15.66 pence per ordinary share 

(year ended 31 December 2018: 3.31 pence per ordinary share) 7,100 1,500

No final dividend is proposed for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: £nil).

All dividends in the current year were paid out of retained earnings and out of the capital contribution reserve. In the prior year 
dividends were paid out of retained earnings. Further details of dividends paid are given in the Directors’ Report on page 50.
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10. Goodwill

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 40,672

At 31 December 2019 40,672

Impairment

At 1 January 2019 (517)
Impairment loss for the year (48)

At 31 December 2019 (565)

Carrying value at 1 January 2019 40,155

Carrying value at 31 December 2019 40,107

Impairment losses were £48,000 for the year ended 31 December 2019 (2018: £190,000).

The impairment in 2019 and 2018 was recognised against goodwill which arose on the acquisition of Electrostaff in 2017.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated, at acquisition, to the CGUs that are expected to benefit from that business 
combination. The carrying amount of goodwill has been allocated as follows:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Provision of temporary and permanent recruitment services 31,992 32,040
Provision of engineering design consultancy and management 8,115 8,115

40,107 40,155

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment, or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and forecast revenue and profit streams during the period under 
review. These assumptions are made in light of the current economic environment, which continue to result in more conservative 
estimates about the future. Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that reflect consideration of the current 
market assessments of the time value of money, the Group’s cost of capital and consideration of any risks specific to the CGUs. The 
growth rates are based on the directors’ assessment of relevant data including the longer-term growth that might be achieved 
based on the most recent approved financial budgets, market sector forecasts and future predicted wage inflation/deflation 
statistics. Forecast revenue and profit streams are based on management’s expectations of the business, past experience and 
expectations of future changes in the market.

The value in use calculations, for both CGUs, are based on projected cash flows derived from the most recent financial budgets 
approved by the Board, which are then extended until December 2021. Following this period, a growth rate of 1.0% (in respect of 
recruitment services) and 1.5% (in respect of engineering design consultancy and management) is used to extrapolate the cash flow 
projections to 2033. This rate does not exceed the average long-term growth rate in the relevant markets and it is the view of the 
directors that this is a prudent assumption in light of their expectations for the Group. The Group has conducted a sensitivity analysis 
on the impairment test of each CGU’s carrying value. On the basis of this analysis, using reasonable expected changes in key 
assumptions, no impairment of existing goodwill is expected to be incurred.

The rate used to discount the forecast cash flows has been separately assessed for each CGU in conjunction with overall Group 
performance. Discount rates of 14.0% (2018: 14.0%) for the provision of temporary and permanent recruitment services and 15.0% 
(2018: 15.0%) for engineering design consultancy are considered to be appropriate.

As discussed in the strategic report, COVID-19 poses a specific, material on-going risk. In the coming year, the economic impact 
resulting from the pandemic will have a material impact on trading. Management has sensitised the Group’s forecasted EBITDA 
using a range of scenarios including what management judge to be a worst case scenario. No impairment was identified, but should 
the impacts of COVID-19 be more prolonged than that of the worst case scenario an impairment to goodwill may be needed, but 
this cannot be quantified to date.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
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11. Other intangible assets

Brand 
value
£’000

CV 
databases

£’000

Customer
relationships

£’000
Total
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2018 914 3,176 6,376 10,466
Additions on acquisition of a business 857 – 2,296 3,153

At 31 December 2018 1,771 3,176 8,672 13,619

At 31 December 2019 1,771 3,176 8,672 13,619

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2018 660 3,176 3,654 7,490
Charge for the year 176 – 1,564 1,740

At 31 December 2018 836 3,176 5,218 9,230
Charge for the year 255 – 1,684 1,939
Impairment loss 12 – 242 254

At 31 December 2019 1,103 3,176 7,144 11,423

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2019 668 – 1,528 2,196

At 1 January 2019 935 – 3,454 4,389

At 1 January 2018 254 – 2,722 2,976

These other intangible assets are amortised over a useful economic life of three to five years.

In 2019 an impairment loss has been recognised of £254,000 (2018: £nil). This is the impairment of intangible assets recognised on 
the acquisition in 2018 of Comtask Global Inc., its subsidiary Mcomm Solution of Puerto Rico Inc. and Commissioning & Technical 
Services (N.A.) Inc. (referred to collectively as Comtask Group and CTSNA). In 2019 the Group took a decision to discontinue the 
operations of the Comtask Group and CTSNA (see note 8 for details).

No value has been assigned to technology, such as database management software, since it is typically simplistic in nature 
and immaterial.
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Property
improvements

£’000

Office
equipment

£’000

Fixture and
fittings

£’000

Motor
vehicles

£’000

Plant and
machinery

£’000
Total
£’000

Cost

At 1 January 2018 2,492 5,342 2,119 295 58 10,306
Additions 280 1,209 126 153 140 1,908
On acquisition of subsidiary undertakings 31 325 85 – 70 511
Disposals – (197) (76) (174) (20) (467)

At 1 January 2019 2,803 6,679 2,254 274 248 12,258
Additions 1,896 1,684 153 – 23 3,756
Disposals (9) (522) (22) – (123) (676)

At 31 December 2019 4,690 7,841 2,385 274 148 15,338

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

At 1 January 2018 1,214 2,974 1,712 218 37 6,155
Charge for the year 183 832 144 17 37 1,213
Disposals – (123) (75) (159) (19) (376)

At 1 January 2019 1,397 3,683 1,781 76 55 6,992
Charge for the year 292 966 149 32 42 1,481
Impairment loss – – – – 60 60
Disposals (3) (241) (8) – (53) (305)

At 31 December 2019 1,686 4,408 1,922 108 104 8,228

Carrying amount

At 31 December 2019 3,004 3,433 463 166 44 7,110

At 1 January 2019 1,406 2,996 473 198 193 5,266

At 1 January 2018 1,278 2,368 407 77 21 4,151

The carrying amount of the Group’s fixtures and equipment at 31 December 2018 included an amount of £346,000 in respect of 
assets held under finance leases.

In 2019 an impairment loss has been recognised of £60,000 (2018: £nil). This is the impairment of fixed assets held in Comtask 
Global Inc., its subsidiary Mcomm Solution of Puerto Rico Inc. and Commissioning & Technical Services (N.A.) Inc. (referred to 
collectively as Comtask Group and CTSNA) down to their recoverable amount. In 2019 the Group took a decision to discontinue the 
operations of the Comtask Group and CTSNA (see note 8 for details).

13. Right-of-use assets

The Group as a lessee

Right-of-use assets
Buildings

£’000
Vehicles

£’000

Office  
Equipment 

£’000
Total
£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 15,537 882 1,030 17,449
Additions 1,325 570 3 1,898

At 31 December 2019 16,862 1,452 1,033 19,347

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2019 – – – –
Charge for the year 2,972 637 404 4,013

At 31 December 2019 2,972 637 404 4,013

Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2019 13,890 815 629 15,334

The Group leases several assets including buildings, plants and IT equipment. The average lease term is 5 years (2018: 6 years).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in note 22.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
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14. Subsidiaries

A list of investments in subsidiaries, including the name, country of incorporation and proportion of ownership interest is given in 
note 3 to the Company’s separate financial statements.

15. Long-term contracts

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Contracts in progress at the balance sheet date:
– amounts due from contract customers included in trade and other receivables 2,052 2,364

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less recognised losses to date 2,052 2,364

Long-term contracts refer to work in progress in the Morson Projects Limited and Waldeck Associates Limited businesses.

Contract revenue recognised as revenue in the year is £40,141,000 (2018: £21,913,000). Advances received at the balance sheet date 
were £1,681,000 (2018: £839,000). There were no retentions held by customers (2018: none).

16. Other financial assets
 
Trade and other receivables

2019 
£’000

2018 
£’000

Amounts recoverable for the sale of services 123,475 122,334
Allowance for doubtful debts (4,110) (3,085)

119,365 119,249
Amounts due from contract customers (see note 15) 2,052 2,364
Other debtors 1,581 1,467
Amounts owed by parent companies 17,663 17,031
Prepayments and accrued income 28,935 36,056

169,596 176,167

The credit period taken on sales based on total closing balances is 47 days (2018: 52 days). Trade receivables are generally non-
interest bearing, however, interest may be charged on overdue balances. An allowance has been made for estimated irrecoverable 
amounts from sales of £4,110,000 (2018: £3,085,000). This allowance has been determined by reference to past experience, known 
market conditions and information and management’s assessment of debts.

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and other receivables approximates their fair value.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £38,239,000 (2018: £38,615,000) which 
are past due at the reporting date for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in the credit 
quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.

Included within the Group’s trade receivables balance is an amount receivable from related parties of £459,000 (2018: £544,000).

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

30–60 days 24,601 25,088
60–90 days 9,214 9,967
Greater than 90 days 4,424 3,560

38,239 38,615
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16. Other financial assets continued

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Balance at the beginning of the year 3,085 5,550
Transition adjustment re IFRS 9 – (1,676)
Impairment losses recognised/(reversed) 1,169 (331)
Uncollectable amounts written off (144) (458)

4,110 3,085

Included in the allowance for doubtful debts are individually impaired trade receivables with a balance of £860,000 (2018: 
£486,000) which have been placed under liquidation or administration at the reporting date.

Ageing of impaired trade receivables

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Current 223 210
30–60 days 342 320
60–90 days 329 249
Greater than 90 days 3,216 2,306

4,110 3,085

Credit risk
The Group’s principal financial assets are trade and other receivables.

The Group’s credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations, resulting in financial loss to the 
Group. The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment losses, represents 
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk as no collateral or other credit enhancements are held. An allowance for impairment is 
made where there is an identified loss event which, based on information gained and previous experience, is evidence of a reduction 
in the recoverability of the cash flows.

At 31 December 2019 the Group had one customer (2018: one customer) whose monies owed to the Group was in excess of 5% of 
the total Group balance of trade receivables and accrued income. The balance due from this customer on 31 December 2019 was 
£9,117,000 (2018: the balance due from this customer was £11,307,000).

Before accepting any new customer, the Group uses an external credit scoring system to assess the potential customer’s credit 
quality and defines credit limits by customer. All customer accounts are reviewed on a regular basis by senior management and 
actions taken to address debt ageing. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its clients are continuously monitored and the 
aggregate value of exposure concluded as acceptable is allocated to approved debtor accounts.

The Group further mitigates credit risk by utilising credit insurance for some of its customer accounts, where the cost of such cover 
is considered commensurate with risk.

Following reviews of the customer accounts, reports are prepared for the directors each month. Provisions are considered on the 
basis of both the ageing of the accounts and also a detailed review of individual customers.

The parameters for provision against impaired debt are set by the Board but reviewed regularly. The directors believe that there is 
no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for doubtful debts.

Cash and cash equivalents

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Cash and cash equivalents 6,079 3,865
Bank overdrafts (see note 17) (46,607) (50,962)

Cash and cash equivalents in the cash flow statement (40,528) (47,097)

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
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17. Borrowings

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Secured borrowings at amortised cost
Bank overdrafts 46,607 50,962

The borrowings are repayable as follows:
– on demand or within one year 46,607 50,962

2019
%

2018
%

The weighted average interest rates paid were as follows:
– bank overdrafts 2.68 2.34

All borrowings are in Pounds Sterling and are arranged at floating rates, thus exposing the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. 
Interest rate risk management procedures are explained in note 18.

The directors consider that the carrying value of borrowings approximates to their fair value.

Bank overdrafts are repayable on demand. Overdrafts of £46,607,000 (2018: £50,962,000) have been secured on the trade 
debtors of the Group. The average effective interest rate on bank overdrafts approximates 2.68% (2018: 2.34%) per annum.

At 31 December 2019, the Group had available £31,326,000 (2018: £25,301,000) of undrawn committed borrowing facilities in 
respect of which all conditions precedent had been met.

18. Financial instruments

Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern whilst maximising the 
return to stakeholders through optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The capital structure of the Group consists of debt (see 
note 17), cash and cash equivalents (see note 16) and equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent, comprising issued 
capital, reserves and retained earnings (see notes 23 and 24).

Categories of financial instruments
Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the 
degree to which the fair value is observable:
• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 

or liabilities. 
• Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 

observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). 
• Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability that are 

not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs). 

At 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018, there were no financial instruments of this nature.

Financial risk management objectives
The Group monitors and manages the financial risks relating to its operations through internal risk reports which analyse exposures 
by degree and magnitude of risks. These risks include market risk (interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and foreign currency risk.

The Group seeks to minimise the effects of interest rate risks where this is deemed appropriate by using derivative financial 
instruments to hedge these risk exposures. The use of financial derivatives is governed by and approved by the Board of Directors. 
The Group does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative purposes.
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18. Financial instruments continued

Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates. A parent Company of the Group entered 
into an interest base rate swap instrument to help manage its exposure to interest rate volatility. This instrument has expired in 2019 
and the Company has not entered into further instruments.

Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at only floating interest rates. The risk is managed by 
the Group by the use of interest base rate swap instruments, described in further detail below. Interest rate risk is evaluated 
periodically to consider interest rate views and defined risk appetite; to seek to ensure reasonable economic strategies are applied, 
by either positioning the balance sheet or protecting interest expense through different interest rate cycles.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial assets and financial liabilities are detailed in the Liquidity risk management 
section of this note.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for both derivatives and non-derivative 
instruments at the balance sheet date. For floating rate liabilities, the analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability 
outstanding at the balance sheet date was outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease is used when 
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management personnel and represents management’s assessment of the reasonably 
possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit for the year 
ended 31 December 2019 would decrease by £465,000/increase by £465,000 (2018: decrease by £347,000/increase by 
£347,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on its variable rate borrowings.

Interest rate swap contracts
There are no interest rate swap instruments held by the Group. A single base rate swap instrument held by a parent Company of the 
Group has expired in 2019. No further interest rate swaps are held by the parent companies of the Group.

Credit risk management
Further details on the Group’s exposure to and management of credit risk can be found in note 16.

Foreign currency risk
The Group undertakes certain transactions denominated in foreign currencies. Hence, exposures to exchange rate fluctuations arise. 
The Group continuously monitors the current exchange rate exposures and ensures these are within approved policy parameters. 
The Group did not hold any material foreign currency forward contracts at the reporting date (at 31 December 2018: none held). 
Management has considered the Group’s sensitivity to foreign currency risk at the balance sheet date and has found this to not 
be material.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Assets Liabilities

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

US Dollar 2,388 6,497 987 1,945
Canadian Dollar 5,227 4,196 1,285 1,683
Euro 5,244 3,960 1,605 1,140
South African Rand 310 151 195 201

The Group does transact in other foreign currencies, but these transactions are not considered significant, nor were the values of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in these other currencies at the balance sheet date. The Group is mainly exposed to the 
US Dollar, Canadian Dollar and the Euro.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
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The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to a 10% increase in Sterling against the relevant foreign currencies. This sensitivity 
rate represents management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis 
includes only outstanding foreign currency-denominated monetary items and adjusts their translation at the year end for a 10% 
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis includes loans to foreign operations within the Group where the 
denomination of the loan is in a currency other than the currency of the lender or the borrower. A positive number below indicates 
an increase in profit and other equity where Sterling weakens 10% against the relevant currency. For a 10% strengthening of Sterling 
against the relevant currency, there would be a comparable impact on the profit and other equity and the balances below would 
be negative.

Profit or loss and equity(a)

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

US Dollar 160 272
Canadian Dollar 374 361
Euro 418 292

(a) This is mainly attributable to exposure outstanding on monetary assets denominated in these currencies but reported in Sterling.

Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and reserve borrowing facilities, 
by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
Included in note 16 is a description of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The tables have been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required 
to pay. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows.

Less than one
month
£’000

One to three
months

£’000

Three months
to one year

£’000

One to five
years
£’000

Over five
years
£’000

Total
£’000

2019
Trade and other payables 20,996 12,276 14,444 142 – 47,858
Bank overdrafts 46,607 – – – – 46,607
Lease liability 176 829 2,593 7,543 4,468 15,609

67,779 13,105 17,037 7,685 4,468 110,074

2018
Trade and other payables 19,645 18,028 11,222 602 – 49,497
Bank overdrafts 50,962 – – – – 50,962
Finance lease liability 3 14 47 191 – 255

70,610 18,042 11,269 793 – 100,714
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18. Financial instruments continued

The following table details the Group’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets excluding Parent Company loans. 
The tables below have been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest 
that will be earned on those assets except where the Group anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

Less than one
month
£’000

One to three
months

£’000

Three months
to one year

£’000

One to five
years
£’000

Over five
years
£’000

Total
£’000

2019
Loans and other receivables 71,733 61,491 9,469 – – 142,693
Cash and cash equivalents 6,079 – – – – 6,079

77,812 61,491 9,469 – – 148,772

2018
Loans and other receivables 73,941 69,428 7,128 – – 150,497
Cash and cash equivalents 3,865 – – – – 3,865

77,806 69,428 7,128 – – 154,362

Fair value of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the financial statements are 
approximately equal to their fair values.

19. Deferred tax

The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and 
prior year:

Accelerated
depreciation

£’000

Intangible
assets
£’000

Temporary
timing

differences
£’000

Total
£’000

Balance at 1 January 2018 9 (505) 455 (41)
Charge to income in respect of prior year (2) – (23) (25)
Credit/(charge) to income in respect of current year 19 353 (315) 57
Impact of change in corporation tax rate – – (31) (31)
Acquisition of a business – (725) 395 (330)

Balance at 31 December 2018 26 (877) 481 (370)

Balance at 1 January 2019 26 (877) 481 (370)
(Charge)/credit to income in respect of prior year (8) – 52 44
(Charge)/credit to income in respect of current year (128) 338 10 220
Impact of change in corporation tax rate (5) – – (5)
R&D expenditure credits trade – – 17 17
Discontinued operations – 77 – 77

Balance at 31 December 2019 (115) (462) 560 (17)

The deferred tax has been calculated at 17%, this being the future enacted rate at the year end.

20. Obligations under finance leases

At 31 December 2018, the directors consider that the carrying value of finance leases approximated their fair value and that their 
overall value was not material. The total finance lease liability at 31 December 2018 was £255,000, of which £64,000 was a current 
liability and £191,000 was a non-current liability.

The lease liabilities for 2019 have been disclosed in note 22.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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21. Other financial liabilities

Trade and other payables within current liabilities

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Trade creditors 5,241 7,288
Other tax and social security 14,649 13,437
Other creditors 13,480 15,519
Accruals and deferred income 38,569 35,713

71,939 71,957

Trade and other payables within non-current liabilities

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Other creditors 142 602

The credit period taken for trade purchases based on closing balances is 10 days (2018: 9 days).

The directors consider that the carrying amount of trade payables approximates to their fair value.

Included within the Group’s trade payables balance is an amount payable to related parties of £121,000 (2018: £175,000).

22. Lease liabilities

2019
£’000

Analysed as:
Non-current 12,011
Current 3,598

15,609

2019
£’000

Maturity analysis
Year 1 3,598
Year 2 2,627
Year 3 2,051
Year 4 1,619
Year 5 1,246
Onwards 4,468

15,609

The Group does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored within the Group’s 
treasury function.

At 31 December 2018, the directors considered that the carrying value of finance leases approximated their fair value and that their 
overall value was not material.
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23. Share capital

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Authorised
60,000,000 ordinary shares of 5 pence each 3,000 3,000

Issued and fully paid
45,343,750 ordinary shares of 5 pence each 2,267 2,267

The Company has one class of ordinary share which carries no right to fixed income.

24. Equity attributable to equity holders of the Parent

Share
capital
£’000

Share
premium
account

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000

Translation
reserve

£’000

Capital
contribution

reserve
£’000

Total
£’000

At 1 January 2018 2,267 37,607 7,065 158 43,595 90,692
Impact of IFRS 9 adoption – – 1,676 – – 1,676

At 1 January 2018 (restated) 2,267 37,607 8,741 158 43,595 92,368
Profit for the year – – 12,256 – – 12,256
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign 

operations – – – 135 – 135

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 12,256 135 – 12,391
Dividends paid – – (1,500) – – (1,500)

At 1 January 2019 2,267 37,607 19,497 293 43,595 103,259
Profit for the year – – 7,595 – – 7,595
Exchange differences on translating the net assets of foreign 

operations – – – (67) – (67)

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 7,595 (67) – 7,528
Dividends paid – – (1,500) – (5,600) (7,100)

At 31 December 2019 2,267 37,607 25,592 226 37,995 103,687

Share premium represents the excess of proceeds received over the nominal value of shares issued.

Retained earnings represents accumulated retained profits and losses net of dividends.

The capital contribution reserve is fully distributable and arises from contributions from the Parent Company.

Dividends were paid out of retained earning and the capital contribution reserve.

25. Non-controlling interests 

£’000

Balance at 1 January 2019 1,074
Share of result for the year 979

Balance at 31 December 2019 2,053

Balances above include non-controlling interests’ portion of profit from this year. Non-controlling interests shown above relate to 
Beacon Computer Services Limited the Parent Company of Caneline Limited, and Vital Human Resources Limited.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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26. Notes to the cash flow statement

Reconciliation of operating profit to net cash from operations

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Operating profit 22,605 24,869

Loss from discontinued operations (3,155) –
Adjustments for:
Exceptional Morson 50th anniversary costs not yet paid 267 –
Exceptional goodwill impairment 48 190
Exceptional acquisition costs – 90
Exceptional negative goodwill – (899)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 4,013 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,481 1,213
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,939 1,740
Impairment of discontinued operations fixed assets 60 –
Impairment of discontinued operations intangible assets 254 –
Corporation tax expense in discontinued operations 210 –
Deferred tax liability write off in discontinued operations (76) –
Finance cost in discontinued operations 17 –
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (3) (9)

Operating cash flows before movements in working capital 27,660 27,194
Decrease in long-term contract balances 312 180
Decrease/(increase) in receivables 6,710 (6,390)
Decrease in payables (22) (2,042)

Cash generated by operations 34,660 18,942
Income taxes paid (3,569) (4,530)
Interest paid (3,273) (2,728)

Net cash generated by operating activities 27,818 11,684

27. Operating lease arrangements

The Group as lessee

2018
£’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year 3,902

At the balance sheet date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2018
£’000

Within one year 3,991
In the second to fifth years inclusive 9,037
After five years 1,296

14,324

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by the Group for office premises, office equipment and vehicles. Office 
leases are negotiated for an average of three to five years for smaller branch locations but for longer, 10-20 years, for key offices. 
Wherever commercially possible, there are negotiated break clauses and rent reviews. The most significant lease commitment 
relates to the agreement for the lease on the Group’s head office, Adamson House, entered into on 22 May 2008. 
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27. Operating lease arrangements continued

The Group as lessor
Operating leases, in which the Group is the lessor, relate to a property lease in which the Group acts as an intermediate lessor. The 
lease term for the sublease is 3 years. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the property at the expiry of the lease period.

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments:

2019
£’000

Year 1 406
Year 2 407

Total 813

The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss:

2019
£’000

Lease income on operating leases 380

28. Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes
The Group contributes to a number of defined contribution pension schemes. The pension cost charge for the year represents 
contributions payable by the Group to the schemes and amounted to £2,395,000 (2018: £1,680,000). Contributions of £360,000 
(2018 restated: £263,000) were payable to the schemes and included in creditors at  
the year end.

29. Related party transactions

Transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties, have been eliminated on consolidation and are 
not disclosed in this note.

Ultimate parent
The ultimate parent undertaking of the Company is GGM Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in the United Kingdom. GA 
Mason is the majority shareholder of GGM Holdings Limited and is the ultimate controlling party of the Company and Group.

GGM Holdings Limited, registered in England and Wales, is the parent undertaking of the largest group of undertakings to 
consolidate these financial statements and has its registered office at Adamson House, 2 Centenary Way, Salford, M50 1RD. The 
consolidated financial statements of GGM Holdings Limited are available to the public and may be obtained from Companies House.

Morson Group Limited, registered in England and Wales, is the parent undertaking of the smallest group of undertakings to 
consolidate these financial statements and has its registered office at Adamson House, 2 Centenary Way, Salford, M50 1RD. The 
consolidated accounts of Morson Group Limited are available to the public and may be obtained from Companies House or 
downloaded from the website www.morson.com.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
continued 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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Trading transactions
During the year, Group companies entered into the following transactions with related parties who are not members of the Group:

Sale of goods 
and services

Purchase of goods 
and services

Amounts owed by 
related parties

Amounts owed to 
related parties

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

GGM Properties 97 93 508 493 17 29 13 116
Centenary Property 

Developments LLP – – 990 988 – – – –
Essential Hygiene Limited – – 341 346 – 9 26 11
MMGG Properties Limited – – 206 206 – – 60 –
Morcor Limited 17 17 141 123 442 506 22 48
Manchester Sale Rugby Club Ltd – – 42 30 – – – –

114 110 2,228 2,186 459 544 121 175

The Group rents offices and an apartment from a director, GA Mason trading as GGM Properties under an arm’s length agreement. 
Certain costs relating to these premises are recharged from the Company to GGM Properties. The Group provides consultancy 
services to GGM Properties under an arm’s length agreement.

The Group rents its head office, Adamson House, from Centenary Property Developments LLP, a limited liability partnership 
registered in England and Wales which is beneficially owned at the balance sheet date by G A Mason.

The Group rents offices from MMGG Properties Limited under an arm’s length agreement. The shareholders of MMGG Properties 
Limited are GA Mason, KP Gorton and PJ Gilmour.

The Group receives cleaning services on an arm’s length basis from Essential Hygiene Limited in which GA Mason has a majority 
shareholding.

The Group provides sponsorship to and receives corporate hospitality services on an arm’s length basis from Manchester Sale 
Rugby Club Ltd, a company of which GA Mason is a director. GA Mason holds a significant shareholding in Shark Holdings Ltd which 
is the 100% parent company of Manchester Sale Rugby Club Ltd.

The Group receives transportation support services from Morcor Limited. Morcor Limited is considered a joint venture of the Group 
due to a joint control agreement with another party in which no controlling interest is held in Morcor Limited. Shareholding by the 
Group in Morcor Limited is 51%. The Group provides accountancy and administrative support services to Morcor Limited and also 
recharges amounts relating to overhead expenses.

Remuneration of key management personnel
The remuneration of the directors, who are considered to be the key management personnel of the Group, is set out below in 
aggregate for each of the categories specified in IAS 24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’.

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 1,901 1,345
Post-employment benefits 30 20

1,931 1,365

Remuneration of highest paid director

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Short-term employee benefits 566 459
Other benefits 38 16

Total remuneration of the highest paid director 604 475
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Note
2019

£’000
2018
£’000

Non-current assets
Investments 3 10,569 10,569
Right-of-use assets 4 8,527 –
Deferred tax asset 46 30

19,142 10,599

Current assets
Debtors 5 84,503 76,798
Cash and cash equivalents 1 14

84,504 76,812

Total assets 103,646 87,411

Current liabilities
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 6 (54,562) (46,554)
Lease liabilities 7 (771) –

(55,333) (46,554)

Net current assets 29,171 30,258

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 7 (7,633) –

Total liabilities (62,966) (46,554)

Net assets 40,680 40,857

Equity
Share capital 8 2,267 2,267
Share premium account 8 37,607 37,607
Retained earnings 8 806 983

Shareholders’ funds 40,680 40,857

The Company made a profit for the year of £6,923,000 (2018: £1,956,000).

The financial statements of Morson Group Limited, registration number 05111937, were approved by the Board of Directors 
and authorised for issue on 30 June 2020. They were signed on its behalf by:

Parent company balance sheet
As at 31 December 2019

Paul Gilmour
Group Financial Director

Ged Mason OBE
Chief Executive
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Share capital
£’000

Share
premium
account

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000
Total
£’000

At 1 January 2018 2,267 37,607 527 40,401
Profit for the year – – 1,956 1,956

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 1,956 1,956

Dividends paid – – (1,500) (1,500)

At 31 December 2018 2,267 37,607 983 40,857

At 1 January 2019 2,267 37,607 983 40,857
Profit for the year – – 6,923 6,923

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 6,923 6,923

Dividends paid – – (7,100) (7,100)

At 31 December 2019  2,267 37,607 806 40,680

Parent company statement of changes in equity
Year ended 31 December 2019
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1. Significant accounting policies – Company

The principal accounting policies of the Company are summarised below and have been applied consistently in all aspects 
throughout the current year and the preceding year.

The Company meets the definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the 
Financial Reporting Council. The financial statements have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 101 (Financial 
Reporting Standard 101) ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council.

The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. The accounts 
have been prepared under the historical cost convention and in accordance with applicable UK accounting standards 
and law.

Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

All other accounting policies are consistent with those of the Group. The Company has taken advantage of the disclosure 
exemptions available under that standard in relation to financial instruments, capital management presentation of 
comparative information in respect of certain assets, presentation of a cash flow statement, standards not yet effective, 
impairment of assets, related party transactions and key management personnel disclosures.

Financial impact of initial application of IFRS 16
IFRS 16 has been implemented in the Company as described in the Group financial statements.

The incremental borrowing rate applied to lease liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position of the 
Company on 1 January 2019 is 2.50%.

The following table shows the operating lease commitments disclosed applying IAS 17 at 31 December 2018, discounted 
using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of initial application and the lease liabilities recognised in the statement 
of financial position at the date of initial application.

£’000

Operating lease commitments at 31 December 2018 5,742
Effect of discounting the above amounts (331)
Finance lease liabilities recognised under IAS 17 at 31 December 2018 –
Present value of the lease payments due in periods covered by extension options that are included in the lease term 

and not previously included in operating lease commitments 3,745

Lease liabilities recognised at 1 January 2019 9,156

The Company has recognised £9,380,000 of right-of-use assets and £9,156,000 of lease liabilities upon transition to 
IFRS 16.

Impact on profit or loss for the year
2019 

£’000

Increase in depreciation 853
Increase in finance costs 216
Decrease in other administrative expenses (968)

Decrease in profit for the year 101

2. Profit for the financial year

The Parent Company has taken advantage of Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and has not included its own profit 
and loss account in these financial statements. The Group profit for the year includes a profit of £6,923,000 (2018: 
£1,956,000) which is dealt with in the financial statements of the Company. This result is stated after charging auditor’s 
remuneration of £20,105 (2018: £19,000) relating to audit services and depreciation arising as a result of IFRS 16 
implementation of £853,000 (2018: £nil). There were no fees incurred for non-audit services (2018: no fees incurred).

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
Year ended 31 December 2019
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3. Investments

Total
£’000

Cost and net book value
At 1 January 2019 10,569

At 31 December 2019 10,569

The subsidiary and other company investment undertakings in which the Company has an interest at the year end are 
as follows:

Company Shareholding Registered in Principal activity

Morson Holdings Limited1 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Holding company
Morson Human Resources Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Technical recruitment employment business
Morson Wynnwith Limited1 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Dormant
Morson Projects Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Engineering design company
Vital Human Resources Limited 75.2% ordinary England & Wales2 Technical recruitment employment business
Morson Global Services Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Holding company
Morson Group GmbH 100% ordinary Germany5 Non-trading
Morson International Recruitment  

(Proprietary) Limited 100% ordinary South Africa6 Technical recruitment employment business
Morson International Inc 100% ordinary USA7 Technical recruitment employment business
Morson International Inc 100% ordinary Canada8 Technical recruitment employment business
Morson Global Services LLC 49% ordinary Qatar9 Non-trading
Morson Projects SRL 100% ordinary Italy10 Engineering design company
Wynnwith SRL 100% ordinary Italy11 Non-trading
The Bridge (IT Recruitment) Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Technical recruitment employment business
Beacon Computer Services Limited1 60% ordinary England & Wales4 Holding company
Caneline Limited 60% ordinary England & Wales4 Software business
Morson Cyber Security Limited1 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Cyber security business
Morcor Limited1 51% ordinary England & Wales2 Transportation business
Vital Consultancy Services Limited 25% ordinary England & Wales3 Construction & engineering business
Vital Power Services Limited 22.5% ordinary England & Wales3 Construction & engineering business
Anderselite Holdings Limited 100% Ordinary England & Wales2 Holding company
Anderselite Limited 100% Ordinary England & Wales2 Technical recruitment employment business
Anderselite Corporate Trustee Limited 100% Ordinary England & Wales2 Corporate trustee company
Waldeck Holdings Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Holding company
Waldeck Associates Limited 100% ordinary England & Wales2 Engineering design company
Comtask Global Inc 100% ordinary USA12 Telecommunications engineering company
Commissioning & Technical Services  

(N.A.) Inc 100% ordinary USA13 Technical engineering recruitment company
Mcomm Solution of Puerto Rico Inc 100% ordinary Puerto Rico14 Telecommunications engineering company

1 Morson Group Limited is the direct Parent Company of this subsidiary undertaking. 
2 Registered office Adamson House, Centenary Way, Salford, Manchester, M50 1RD 
3 Registered office The Mill, South Hall Street, Salford, M5 4TP 
4 Registered office The Friars, 82 High Street South, Dunstable, LU6 3HD 
5 Registered office Neuer Wall 10, Jungfernstieg, Hamburg, Germany 20354 
6 Registered office 108 Elizabeth Avenue, Parkmore, Johannesburg, South Africa, 2196 
7 Registered office 1 Wrigley, Irvine, CA 92618 
8 Registered office 350 Bay Street, Suite 1300, Toronto, Canada, M5H 2S6 
9 Registered office Doha, Qatar 
10 Registered office Via Marsala, 34, Gallarate, Italy, 21013 
11 Registered office Via Michelangelo Buonarroti 39, Milan, Italy, 20145 
12 Registered office 2015 S Tuttle Avenue, PO Box 1418, Sarasota, Florida, 34230, USA 
13 Registered office 40 East Main Street, Unit 927, Newark, Delaware, 19711-4639, USA 
14 Registered office Corona Commercial Park, Calle Progreso #54 Parada 20, Santurce, PR 00909 
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4. Right-of-use assets

The Company as lessee
Buildings

£’000

Cost
At 1 January 2019 9,380
Additions –

At 31 December 2019 9,380

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2019 –
Charge for the year 853

At 31 December 2019 853

Carrying amount 

At 31 December 2019 8,527

The Company leases one building with a remaining lease term of 10 years (2018: 11 years).

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is presented in note 7.

5. Debtors

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 66,381 59,267
Amounts owed by Parent Company 17,663 17,031
Prepayments and accrued income 445 485
Other tax and social security 14 15

84,503 76,798

6. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Amounts owed to Group undertakings 53,001 45,272
Accruals and deferred income 1,523 1,207
Other creditors 38 75

54,562 46,554

7. Lease liabilities

2019
£’000

Analysed as:
Non-current 7,633
Current 771

8,404

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
continued
Year ended 31 December 2019
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2019
£’000

Maturity analysis
Year 1 771
Year 2 791
Year 3 810
Year 4 831
Year 5 852
Onwards 4,349

8,404

The Company does not face a significant liquidity risk with regard to its lease liabilities. Lease liabilities are monitored 
within the Company’s treasury function.

At 31 December 2018 the Company did not hold any finance leases. 

8. Reserves

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carries no right to fixed income.

The retained earnings are fully distributable.

Share  
capital
£’000

Share
premium
account

£’000

Retained
earnings

£’000
Total
£’000

At 1 January 2018 2,267 37,607 527 40,401
Profit for the year – – 1,956 1,956

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 1,956 1,956

Dividends paid – – (1,500) (1,500)

At 31 December 2018 2,267 37,607 983 40,857

At 1 January 2019 2,267 37,607 983 40,857
Profit for the year – – 6,923 6,923

Total comprehensive income for the year – – 6,923 6,923

Dividends paid – – (7,100) (7,100)

At 31 December 2019 2,267 37,607 806 40,680

9. Operating lease arrangements

The Company as lessee

2018
£’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year 968

At the balance sheet date, the Company had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under 
non-cancellable operating leases, which fall due as follows:

2018
£’000

Within one year 977
In the second to fifth years inclusive 4,012
After five years 752

5,741

Operating lease payments represented rentals payable by the Company for an office premise. Wherever commercially 
possible, there are negotiated break clauses and rent reviews. This lease commitment relates to the agreement for the 
lease on the head office, Adamson House, entered into on 22 May 2008. 
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9. Operating lease arrangements continued

The Company as lessor
Operating leases, in which the Company is the lessor, relate to a property lease in which the Company acts as an 
intermediate lessor. The lease term for the sublease is 3 years. The lessee does not have an option to purchase the 
property at the expiry of the lease period.

Maturity analysis of operating lease payments:

2019
£’000

Year 1 406
Year 2 407

Total 813

The following table presents the amounts reported in profit or loss:

2019
£’000

Lease income on operating leases 380

10. Related party transactions

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption conferred by paragraph 8(J) of FRS 101 in not disclosing details of 
transactions with other Group companies. Morson Group Limited has not provided any further loans to Beacon Computer 
Services Limited in the current year (2018: Morson Group Limited provided a loan of £100,000 to Beacon Computer 
Services Limited). The loan is interest free and the closing balance was £202,000 (2018: £202,000). Transactions with 
other related parties are discussed in note 29 of the Consolidated financial statements.

11. Ultimate controlling party

See note 29 of the Consolidated financial statements.

12. Dividends

See note 9 of the Consolidated financial statements.

13. Employees

The average numbers of persons employed by the Company during the year, including Directors, analysed by category, 
was as follows:

2019
Number

2018
Number

Directors 5 4
Support staff 3 3

8 7

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

2019
£’000

2018
£’000

Salaries including social security costs 2,062 1,430
Pension costs 30 20
Other benefits 137 130

2,229 1,580

Notes to the parent company financial statements 
continued
Year ended 31 December 2019
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